Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) take no responsibility for the contents of this announcement, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of
the contents of this announcement.
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ANNUAL RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT

The board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
(“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) hereby announces the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020. This announcement, containing the
full text of the 2020 annual report of the Company, complies with the relevant requirements of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) in relation to information to accompany preliminary
announcements of the annual results.

WINDING UP PETITION

This announcement is made by the Company pursuant to Rule 17.10 of the GEM Listing Rules
and the Inside Information Provisions (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) pursuant to Part
XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

On 30 June 2020, the Company received a petition (the “Petition”) issued by Lee Sing Leung
Robin (the “Petitioner”) pursuant to the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provision) Ordinance (Chapter 32, Laws of Hong Kong) in the High Court of The Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (the “High Court”) under Companies Winding-up Proceedings
No.194 of 2020 that the Company may be wound up by the High Court on the ground that the
Company is insolvent and unable to pay its debt. The Petition is scheduled to be heard by the
High Court at 9:30 a.m. on 30 September 2020.

*  For identification purpose only



The debt refered to in the Petition is in connection with convertible bond no.54 (“CB 54”);
which is also the subject matter of High Court Miscellaneous Proceedings No.1398 of 2018
brought by Mayson Associates Limited wherein Mayson Associates Limited has sought
various orders, including, inter alia, a declaration that it is the legal owner of CB 54 with the
written support by the Petitioner.

The Company has also sought legal advise on the next steps and possible actions in respect of
the Petition and will vigorously oppose the Petition. Further announcements will be made as
and when appropriate. The Company will also keep its shareholders and potential investors
informed of any significant development of the Petition as and when appropriate.

Shareholders of the Company and potential investors of the Company are advised to exercise
caution when dealing in the Shares of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Li Dahong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2020

As at the date of this announcement, the Board comprises of Dr. Li Dahong (executive
Director), Ms. Ma Xiaona (executive Director), Ms. Wang Hongyin (executive Director), Mr.
Guo Wei (independent non-executive Director), Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (independent non-
executive Director) and Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (independent non-executive Director).

This announcement, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the
best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this announcement is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this announcement
misleading.

This announcement will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Announcements” page of the
GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at least seven days from the date of its publication and
on the websites of the Company at http://www.grandtg.com/.
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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part
of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Grand T G Gold Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”).
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”), having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
Statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information”
page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at least seven days
from the date of its publication and on the website of the Company at
http.//www.grandtg.com/.

The English text of this report shall prevail over the Chinese text in
case of inconsistencies.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERERE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company, together with
its subsidiaries, hereby presents the Company’s annual report for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

2019 was a challenging year, affected by the ongoing China-US trade
dispute, the slowdown of the gold mining operations resulting from
the environmental inspections and demand for environmental
improvement by the government in the Mainland China, the slowed
world economy growth and uncertainties experienced in China’s
economy development. In particular, the outbreak of Novel
Coronavirus in January 2020 not only forced our operation into a shut
down but also severely affected the business of our customers. Its
adverse impacts to the business environment in which the Company
operates is expected to last in the months to come. Furthermore, the
Company continues to face litigations for which the Company has
valid ground to defend. These cases however have seriously affected
the Company’s ability to execute its development plan. Despite of the
challenges, the Company is committed to its corporate strategic
business objective of becoming high standard mining company with
high efficiency and improving its competitiveness and financial
performance over time, through both organic growth at the
Company’s operating subsidiary and through acquisitions and new
business ventures. With the support of our shareholders and other
stakeholders, the Board will continue to work toward achieving the
Company’s growth and development objective.

Looking forward to 2020, in the backdrop of the economy
uncertainties by the China-US trade dispute and also the continual
effect of Novel Coronavirus epidemic, the Group is expected to face a
number of challenges ahead in 2020.

The Group will continue with utmost effort in fending off legal
challenges, minimizing disturbances caused to the Company and
moving into execution of the business development plan and growth
of business. We will work hard towards improving the Company’s
asset scale and quality as well as financial performance over time.
Meanwhile, the Group will look for new potential growth opportunities
in a very diligent manner through merger and acquisition, business
integration and expansion in order to improve the profitability of the
Group and the returns to the shareholders.

On behalf of the Board

Li Dahong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in gold exploration, mining and
mineral processing with gold concentrate as its product.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year”), the Group’s revenue
was approximately HK$69.6 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 57.5% from approximately HK$163.8 million as

compared with that of the last year.

The decrease in revenue was due to the slowdown of the gold mining
operations resulting from the environmental inspections and demand
for environmental improvement, the closure of mining operations due
to Novel Coronavirus, and the impacts of Novel Coronavirus to our
customers.

The revenue for the third quarter of our financial year was based on
the achieved sales with our long-time customer. However, this
customer informed the Company in February 2020 to cancel the
sales and to return the purchased goods to us in wake of the sudden
outbreak of Novel Coronavirus epidemics and a very high level of
uncertainties thus generated. While objecting such position at the
time on commercial grounds, with the prolonging and worsening
situation beyond anyone’s control, the Company eventually agreed
with the cancellation request and to have the sold goods returned to
the Company. However, the tightly controlled the transportation
network in the Mainland especially in remote country areas where the
Company mine operate, return of the sold goods has been a difficult
process in the first few months of 2020.

In light of the above circumstances, the sales and the respective cost
of sales have been derecognized. The Company has been in active
and continuous liaison with the customer for full return of the goods
or retake the sales but either way will be no later the end of July
2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Gross profit and gross profit margin

During the Year, the Group’s gross profit was approximately HK$17.9
million, representing a decrease of approximately 77.0% from
approximately HK$77.5 million as compared with that of the last year.
During the Year, the Group’s overall gross profit margin was
approximately 25.7% (year ended 31 March 2019: 47.3%).

The decrease in gross profit margin was due to the failure to reach
economies of scale after the decrease in revenue. The cost of
deprecation were fixed which would not affected by the decrease in

revenue.

Selling and distribution expenses

During the Year, the Group’s selling and distribution expenses were
approximately HK$3.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 30.9% from approximately HK$4.9 million as

compared with that of the last year.

Administrative expenses

During the Year, the Group’s administrative expenses were
approximately HK$37.0 million, representing an increase of
approximately 13.3% from approximately HK$32.7 million as

compared to the last year.

Loss for the year

Consolidated loss of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$38.8 million for the Year (2019: consolidated profit in the sum of
approximately HK$7.8 million).

For the Year, the Group has recorded a net loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company of approximately HK$35.2 million, as
compared to profits of approximately HK$0.03 million recorded at the
last year. This was mainly due to the temporary closure of the mining
operation of the Group in early 2020 as well as the adverse impact to
our customers due to Novel Coronavirus epidemic and also the slow
down of the gold mining operations resulting from the environmental
inspections and demand for environmental improvement by the

government in Mainland China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Loss per share
Loss per share was approximately HK cents 2.35 for the Year (2019:

earning of approximately HK cents 0.0).

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2019: nil).

Liquidity, financial resources and funding

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$2.1 million (2019: approximately
HK$2.2 million) and net current liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$127.5 million (2019: net current liabilities of approximately
HK$96.9 million) whereas inventories of the Group amounted to

approximately HK$8.2 million (2019: approximately HK$8.1 million).

As at 31 March 2020, the current ratio is approximately 0.17 (2019:
approximately 0.24).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately
52.0% (2019: approximately 49.3%), calculated based on total

borrowings over total assets.

Borrowings
Borrowings information of the Group is set out in note 24 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Capital structure

On 17 July 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$30,095,357 to J. Thomson Asset
Investment Limited (the “Third Subscriber”) under the convertible
bonds subscription agreement dated 10 April 2017. The subscription
monies payable by the Third Subscriber for the convertible bonds
was settled by way of set off against the debt due by the Company to
the Third Subscriber.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$89,807,000 which were divided into 1,496,782,160 Shares of
HK$0.06 each.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Capital commitment
As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any significant capital

commitments (2019: nil).

Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2020, security over inventory as collateral for the
Group’s long term loans was released and that the financise received
the Group’s rights of payments from its customers as collateral of the
Group’s operating subsidiary, E B % AMBEEXE B R E £ 2 7
Tongguan Taizhou Mining Company Limited” (“Taizhou Mining”).

As at 31 March 2020, the security over inventories of the Group was

released (2019: approximately HK$19.5 million).

Treasury policies

The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are principally
denominated in HKS$, Renminbi (‘RMB”). Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and

liabilities.

The Group adopted a conservative treasury policy with most of the
bank deposits being kept in HK$ or RMB, or in the local currencies of
the operating subsidiaries to minimise exposure to foreign exchange
risk. The Group monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and
cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuation in cash flows. Management reviews and

monitors the Group’s working capital requirements regularly.

Segment information
The Group’s segmental information is set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Exposure to exchange risks

Since the Group’s borrowings and its source of income are primarily
denominated in the respective group companies functional currency
which are mainly in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi, the exposure to

foreign exchange rate fluctuations is minimal.

*

For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Significant investment, material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies, and future plans for
material investments or capital assets

The Group did not have any significant investment, material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies

throughout the Year.

In addition, the Company is now focusing on developing and
strengthening its existing business and will explore investment
opportunities in order to broaden the income stream of the Group,
enrich its reserves and resources, enhance the profitability of the
Group and eventually bring a fruitful return to the shareholders of the

Group.

Contingent liabilities
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2020 and 31 March 2019.

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 65 employees (2019: 59)
situated mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
Hong Kong. The Group’s emoluments policies are formulated based
on industry practices and performance of individual employees. For
the Year, the total staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
amounted to approximately HK$20.6 million (2019: approximately
HK$12.4 million). Details of employees’ remuneration are set out in

note 9 of the consolidated financial statements.

Relationships with employees, customers and suppliers
Employees

The Directors are of the view that its employees are the keys to the
sustainable development of the Group. The Directors believe that the
Group maintains good working relations with its employees and

endeavors to maintain and improve the quality of its products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Customers and Suppliers

The Group aims to provide comprehensive solutions that meet
customers’ needs and establish a comprehensive vertical supply
chain management system through resource integration and supplier

screening and management.

The objectives of the Group are to deepen the collaborative
relationship with the strategic suppliers and to create competitive
advantages in the value chain, thereby aiming to enhance the impact
on the society and environment and to ensure that their suppliers
uphold similar stance in sustainability. The Group maintains long-term

relationship with its suppliers for ensuring stable supply.

PROSPECT
Looking forward to 2020, in the backdrop of the economy

uncertainties by the China-US trade dispute, the continual effect of
Novel Coronavirus epidemic and other macroeconomic and policy
factors, the Group is expected to face a number of challenges ahead
in 2020. The Group will continue with utmost effort in fending off legal
challenges, minimizing disturbances caused to the Company and
moving into execution of the business development plan and growth
of business. The Company will continue working hard to improve the
Company’s asset scale and quality as well as financial performance
over time. In addition to organic growth from the company existing
business, the Group will look for new potential growth opportunities in
a very diligent manner through merger and acquisition, business
integration and expansion in order to improve the profitability of the

Group and the returns to the shareholders.

MINERAL EXPLORATION, MINE DEVELOPMENT
AND ORE MINING ACTIVITIES

Mineral Exploration and Mine Development

During the Year, Taizhou Mining mainly completed certain mining
development projects, including the excavation of approximately
8,489 meters of various tunnels, excavation of approximately 679
meters of slope supporting, excavation of approximately 1,018
meters of ore chute as well as excavation of approximately 2,547

meters for track laying and ditches.

BEFERHKER

AEESHERTEEMOBRT RAMEEPNE
2 WEEEREAMMERMEEREERY —
EXENEEHEREERLR -

AEEN B RERARCARBEHEEHNSIEREL
BYRNEBERETOGFEY  EMEALE LR
BRENNREBHEDN A FHER R ERTA
A28 - AR EREEH AR RBBEEURE
REHE -

Al

RE-_Z_ZTF  HEPXBHAUH  FRERRE
SRENFEZEANAMZBRBEMBER AR
EENKETEEENSERT  AEEEME—
Z_TFEEBGRZUE - AREREETERN
MMAELEREL R BERDHAREEERDN TE
NIEERTERERZA B NEBIER - AQF]
KENEREARRINEERRREEBARMH
KB - BARARBEBHERIERSI - KNEH
R SEEMEBHE  FHBEA RBRERHT
BEERMEE  WESAKENAF N MR
[B] &

BEBK BEBERBAMK
SEE

BEMRREERR

RAFE  AMNBEXZEZRRSESERELD
8,489 K ~ R BIEHELI679K « ABEHIBELD
1,018 K K 8 2% B 8 M /KB 12 492,547 K E &
EFEIR-



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Group’s total expenditure for the mine

development and mineral exploration amounted to approximately

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
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EEENWR DN

HK$61.0 million and approximately HK$O respectively.

Ore Mining

During the Year, the aggregate expenditure on the ore mining

operation of the Group was approximately HK$11.9 million.

RESOURCES AND RESERVES

Based on the findings of the report prepared by Ravia Global

Appraisal Advisory Limited pursuant to JORC Code 2012:

1. As of 31 March 2020, using a gold cut-off grade of 1.0 gram per

tonne, the indicated resource and inferred resource of the Group

WA

RAFE  AEEREREMAELEEDFENERY
2 Bl A#761,000,000 7 7T K 4] 078 JT, ©

RAFE  AEEBOHAREBNEROR

11,900,000/ 7T ©

ERREE

RIBIR QR EFE BB R A)ERIJORCER
“E-CFHRORBEZIREZE®

1. BE-Z-_ZTHF=A=+—H8 HA10%

Be/ WERMUFE -

REBE RG] E

were: REREHERER -
Contained
Inventory Grade metal
7E m eEtl
(gram per (kilogram,
(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)
(FHg) (Z&W #2%) (Fz &)
Indicated resource EHERE 1,806 7.82 13,967
Inferred resource HEERE 1,555 6.6 10,260

2. As at 31 March 2020, under a cut-off grade of 1.9 gram per

tonne, the estimated probable reserves of the Group were:

2. HE-_Z-_ZHF=F=1+—H RBE19%

Be / MARBMUFE  AEEGFTER

REER
Contained
Inventory Grade metal
rE @i et
(gram per (kilogram,
(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)
(Fmg) (Z&W #2%) (Fz #5z)
Probable reserves inventory BAREERE 1,654 5.74 8,919
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Li Dahong (“Dr. Li”)

Dr. Li, aged 62, joined the Company as an executive Director on 24
February 2016 and is also the chairman and the authorized
representative of the Company. Dr. Li also serves as a director of
SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining Asia
Limited, all being subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 20 years
of experience in investment banking, mergers and acquisitions and
other financial activities. Dr. Li was graduated from Tsinghua
University in civil and environmental engineering and received a
degree in Doctor of Philosophy in Civil Engineering from the University

of Toronto, Canada.

Ms. Ma Xiaona (“Ms. Ma”)

Ms. Ma, aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 24 March 2016 and is a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Ma was
re-designated as an executive Director and the compliance officer of
the Company on 13 September 2017, and was also appointed as a
director of SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining
Asia Limited, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Ma
graduated from East China University of Science and Technology in
Shanghai with a Bachelor’s degree in International Trade. She has
more than 20 years of experience in project financing, joint ventures
and mergers and acquisitions in China and Hong Kong, involving in
industries such as gold mining, other resources mining, traditional

manufacturing, and high-tech industry.
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Ms. Wang Hongyin (“Ms. Wang”)

Ms. Wang, aged 45, joined the Company as an executive Director on
18 December 2017, majored in Certified Public Accountant in Finance
and Economic Institute of Tianjin (currently known as Tianjin University
of Finance and Economics) and obtained a Bachelor Degree in
economics in 1997 and a Master of Science Degree in Financial
Analysis from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in
2010. Ms. Wang is currently attending the EMBA Joint Degree jointly
set up by Guanghua School of Management of Peking University and
Kellogg School of Management of Northwestern University, the
United States. Ms. Wang has rich experience in audit, investment,

business development and assets management.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Guo Wei (“Mr. Guo”)

Mr. Guo, aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 28 April 2016. He is also the chairman of
the nomination committee and remuneration committee and a
member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Guo graduated
from Beijing Institute of Economic Research, majoring in Chinese
Language and Literature (undergraduate) in 1999. Since 2004, he has
been served as the chairman of the board of 3T i 2% & AR A &
(Zhejiang Ruifeng Investment Company Limited*). He worked in the
WL & B E #2 & 5Bt (Survey and Design Institute of Post and
Telecommunications in Zhejiang Province®) from 1977 to 1987. He
worked in the Zhejiang Provincial Government Office in Guangzhou
and A B F £ & 2 7] (Grand Southeast Group Corporation*) from
1988 to 1994. He worked as the general manager of #1)M E  BIFR
FBJE (Hangzhou Nanwang International Hotel®) and the chairman of
the board of #1 Il 7 & & & A A (Hangzhou Wuyun Investment
Company*) from 1995 to 2004. Mr. Guo has been engaged in
management for more than 30 years, including 20 years as the head
of enterprises, during which he gains extensive management

experience and strong coordination ability.
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Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (“Mr. Lam”)

Mr. Lam, aged 64, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 December 2017. He is also the chairman of
the audit committee of the Company, a member of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. He is a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England &
Wales, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Securities
Institute, Society of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, Australia ¢ New
Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants, Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong and Certified Tax Adviser. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor Degree in
Arts (Economics) from the University of Manchester, the United
Kingdom. Mr. Lam is currently an independent non-executive director
of Macrolink Capital Holdings Limited (formerly known as Junefield
Department Store Group Limited) (Stock Exchange Stock Code:
758). He was an independent non-executive director of OCI
International Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 329)
from 28 April 2010 to 7 May 2018. Mr. Lam currently is a partner of
Grand Thornton Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Lam had been head of
department in Southwest Securities International Securities Limited
(Stock Exchange Stock Code: 812). He was the former director and
Chief Executive Officer and is the shareholder of Jonten Hopkins CPA
Limited (the merger of former Aoba CPA Limited* (5 Z & &+EI S 757
and Albert Lam & Co. CPA). Mr. Lam was also the Managing Partner
and Founder of Albert Lam & Co. CPA.
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Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (“Mr. Cheung”)

Mr. Cheung, aged 38, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 27 August 2018. He is also a member of the
audit committee of the Company. He is a certified tax adviser of the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a certified public accountant of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Cheung
graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with an
honours degree in bachelor of arts in accountancy. He is currently
appointed as the chief financial officer of Wai Chi Holdings Company
Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 1305). Mr. Cheng was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Ye Xing
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange Stock code: 1941) on 17
February 2020. He worked in Jonten Hopkins CPA Limited from July

2004 to March 2014 and his last position was audit manager.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Qianzhou (“Mr. Ma”)

Mr. Ma, aged 62, has more than 30 years of senior management
experience in gold mining, exploration, ore processing, refining and
merger and acquisitions of mining companies in China. Mr. Ma is
currently a member of People’s Congress of Tongguan County,
Shaanxi Province, the PRC. Mr. Ma is the general manager and
director of Taizhou Mining. He had served as director of China Gold
Association and executive director of Gold Association of Shaanxi
Province. He had held senior management positions as the director
of the Small and Medium Entrepreneurs Association, Shaanxi
Province, PRC, and the President of the Small and Medium
Entrepreneurs Association of Weinan City, Shaanxi Province, the
PRC.

Ms. Eva Lee (“Ms. Lee”)

Ms. Lee was appointed as the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) on 20 February 2020. She is admitted as
a solicitor in Hong Kong and focusing on capital markets and
corporate finance work. Ms. Lee graduated from the London School

of Economic and Political Science with Masters of Laws (Distinction).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set

out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are provided
in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 6 to 12 of this report. Possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in the Report
of the Directors on pages 17 to 20 of this report and the Corporate

Governance Report on pages 35 to 52 of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Fluctuation in the price of gold

The Directors consider that the price of gold in the PRC is highly
influenced by the price of gold in the international market (which is
denominated in the USD) and the exchange rate of the USD to RMB.
The Directors consider that there are many factors influencing the
price of gold in the international market, including global economic
situation, fiscal, monetary and trade policies of world major
economies which would eventually influence the exchange rates of
the USD, fluctuation in major stock markets, geo-political instability in
the international arena, all of which are beyond the control of the
Group. The fluctuation in gold price would affect significantly revenue
levels, cash flow and profitability of the Group. To mitigate and control
the risk, the Group would continue to make its constant effort in
controlling cash cost for production and overall cost for the Group
operation, monitoring closely the commaodity market and aligning its
production planning, growth strategy and capital expenditure with

projected market development to the extent possible.
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Investment risks

Investments in mineral exploration and mining have its inherent risks.
Significant capital expenditures are usually required in new exploration
and sustained mine development while the results particularly those
for exploration may not always be as expected or achieve the desired
levels of reliability for newly found mineral reserves and resources in
the timely fashion. The Group would mitigate and control such risks
by conducting proper risk assessment, using third party professionals
and experts and adopting the best practices in the industry, in
investment evaluation and decision-making process, including
carefully planned drilling and other exploration activities, mine

development and acquisition of quality mining assets.

Government regulations

The mining activities of the Group are subject to various government
policies, standards, permitting and regulations, all of which could
affect the Group’s operation. From time to time, there are government
initiatives for the mining industry such as mining right consolidation
which aims at creating larger mining areas from fragmented ones.
Furthermore, the process for review and extension of the existing
mining and exploration right permits, and review and approval of any
new mining and production facilities have become lengthy and costly
and with uncertainty. Even projects approved years ago and are
already under construction can be subject to review and approval
under a new set regulations and standards. The Group would mitigate
and control the risks by working closely with the government agencies
to negotiate the best deals in the consolidation program to protect
and maximize the Group’s interests. At the same time, the Group
monitors and follows the policy development closely and works on
the best effort basis ahead of the anticipated changes to be prepared

and to comply.
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Environmental Protection

The nationwide campaign for environmental protection has been
enhanced in the mining sector and promotion of green mines, under
the PRC national strategy for environmental protection. Virtually all
major mining regions in the country including the county where the
Group operates are part of this campaign. This involves permitting of
mining only at certain elevations, clear of any protective or natural
reserve areas and strict enforcement of pollution control standards,
minimizing adverse impacts of mining and processing activities to
their surrounding natural and social environments and to geology
stability, mitigating any adverse impacts form historical mining
activities and landscaping of the mine sites and surroundings in
particular, the Xiao Qinling mountains where the Company’s mine
operates, have received the attention for protection from the highest
level of the country leadership. Enforcement of environmental
protection has been beefed up in the PRC. A series of new provincial
and local notices, guidelines and other directors have been issued
over the reporting period, some of which targeted specifically to the
mining sector. Furthermore, a dedicated environmental inspection for
mining was carried out by a group dispatched by the Central
Government to the area where Taizhou Mine operates. During the
inspection period, the mine production was shut down per
government request. A series of requirements for improvement in
environmental protection in the region as well as all the mines were
raised as a result of the inspection. Enforcement of these
environmental policies and standards may cause an increase in
operating costs and any violation could result in interruption of the
Group’s normal production activities. The Group has a policy to
protect the natural and social environments and to be in full
compliance with all applicable policies and standards. The Group has

and will continue to take pre-active measures to ensure compliance.

Occurrence of Novel Coronavirus Epidemic

The recent occurrence of Novel Coronavirus epidemic in Mainland
China since January 2020, has increased uncertainties to the
economy in Mainland China in the coming year, which has already
been weakened by the US-China trade tension. If the development of
Novel Coronavirus epidemic persists or intensifies, the economy in
Mainland China and Hong Kong may be materially and adversely

affected.
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In such event, health safety risks during the occurrence of the Novel
Coronavirus may also lead to labour shortage, increase in wages of
the workers and/or closure or interruption of our gold mines, delaying
the work progress of our gold mining operation as a result. It has and
may continue to affect the operation of our customers which in turn
would affect on our sales. We may see reduced orders as a result.
These adverse impacts, if materialise and persist for a substantial
period, may significantly and adversely affect our business operation

and financial performance.

Financial Risks

The Group requires sufficient funding for its working capital, debt
repayment, further development and planned acquisitions. The Group
currently faces limited financial resources and for the time being its
net current liabilities are in the red, although there are no immediate
concerns for solvency due to the nature of its current liabilities. Failure
to obtain additional funding in a timely fashion however, may
adversely affect the Group’s operation and its development plan. The
Group is now actively engaged in fund raising, talking to several
interested investors/financiers, negotiating and comparing terms and
conditions, and trying to close fund raising soon to significantly
alleviate the current liability risks. Furthermore, the Group was
received a financial support commitment from a major shareholder to
cover the most needed financial obligation. At the same time, the
Group is finalizing and has started implementing the plan aiming at
boosting its mineral products throughput and thus revenue and net
profits by completing a new processing plant. The plan also includes
investment opportunities for acquisitions for quality mining assets.
The successful implementation of the plan would fundamentally
improve the Group’s financial position and address the current

liabilities concerns.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong in all

material respects for the business operations of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’s environmental policies are to protect the natural and
social environment where the Group operates, to ensure full
compliance with all applicable regulatory requirements and standards,
and to be sustainable in the Group’s operations. The Group strives to
minimize potential adverse environmental impacts from its mining, ore
processing, tailing disposal and other production and operation
activities. This objective for protecting the environment during the
Group’s operations will be achieved by adopting effective and
proactive, where appropriate, measures, including but not limited to,
upfront impact assessment for any and all new projects, careful
planning and execution of production activities with considerations for
environmental protection, collection and treatment of waste from all
streams and sources, recycling and reuse of treated waste where
possible, minimization of environmental discharge, and endorsing

community participation and feedback, etc.

During the Year, the Group has not been the subject of any

environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or disciplinary actions.

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company will
be announced on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
the Company’s website within three months after the publication of

the annual report of the Company.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
62.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Group is set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2019: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company, is set out on page
184. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year

are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and
“Convertible Bonds” of this report and note 27 and note 29(i) to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by the Company during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

articles of association and laws of the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2020 had been reviewed by the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) before they
were duly approved by the Board under the recommendation of the

Audit Committee.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates (as defined
in GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which competes

or may compete with the business of the Group during the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity, respectively.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, there were no Company’s reserves available

for distribution to shareholders.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 100% of the total sales for the Year and
sales to the largest customer accounted for approximately 100%.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 100% of the total purchases for the Year and
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately
58.6%.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
total number of issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the

Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the Year.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Li Dahong
Ms. Ma Xiaona

Ms. Wang Hongyin

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

Each of Dr. Li Dahong, Ms. Ma Xiaona and Mr. Guo Wei, has entered

into a service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years

commencing from 13 September 2017.
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Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum, has entered into a service contract with the

Company for a term commencing from 8 December 2017.

Ms. Wang Hongyin has entered into a service contract with the

Company for a term commencing from 18 December 2017.

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung, has entered into a service contract with the

Company for a term commencing from 27 September 2018.

The term of service of a Director is subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the articles of

association of the Company.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the annual
general meeting has an unexpired service agreement with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The biographical details of Directors and senior management are set

out on pages 13 to 16.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company had been

entered into or existed during the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company has in

force the permitted indemnity provisions which are provided for in the
articles of association of the Company and in the directors and
officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of
potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that
may be brought against the Directors and the directors of the Group

respectively.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 11 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Director nor entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its

subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”) which were recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings set out in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
interests and short positions in Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures” above and in the “Share Option Scheme” disclosure in
note 28(ii) to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during
the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of Shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any

other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Director or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 March 2020, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executives of the Company whose interests are
set out in the section “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and
short positions in Shares, underlying shares and debentures” above)
had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares
which were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO:
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Number and class of securities

REQXTROREBRD TR

EHEE REH Approximate %
Underlying of the issued
Name Capacity Shares Shares Shares
HEBTRAZ
W EB g4 g HEBAR 2 BHAESE
Ma Qianzhou (“Mr. Ma”) Beneficial owner 200,730,224 - 13.41%
BN ([FEED EREAA -
Interest of spouse 22,508,800 - 1.50%
[ 2 (Note 1)
(Mtat1)
Zhao Yuebing Beneficial Owner 22,508,800 - 1.50%
B K EmEE A -
Interest of spouse 200,730,224 - 13.41%
[iRYER (Note 1)
(Htat1)
Lee Shing Interest in a controlled 106,893,333 - 7.14%
corporation (Note 2)
&) RPEHIA R AR (BHtst2)
Yong Li Investments Limited Beneficial owner 106,893,333 - 7.14%

KA EBR AR

EHmBEAA
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Number and class of securities

EBEFHBERER Approximate %
Underlying of the issued
Name Capacity Shares Shares Shares
HERITRGZ
wE/ LB 8 igv) HER D BMAOBE D
Wang Dong Interest in a controlled 86,244,800 - 5.76%
corporation (Note 3)
R REH ATz R (Btat3)
Midway International Holdings Beneficial owner 86,244,800 - 5.76%
Limited
PRBEIR IR AR AR EREBA
Zhou Yong Beneficial owner 116,666,666 - 7.79%
IBE= EHEBA
Leung Heung Ying Interest in a controlled 13,333,333 - 0.89%
corporation (Note 4)
RER St VNS o v (Ktata)
- 100,317,856 6.70%
(Note 6)
(#tite)
J. Thomson Asset Beneficial owner 13,333,333 - 0.89%
Investment Limited (Note 4)
BEREAA (Btat4)
- 100,317,856 6.70%
(Note 6)
(Kizte)
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Notes:

1. Mr. Ma is the spouse of Ms. Zhao Yuebing. Mr. Ma and Ms. Zhao
Yuebing is accordingly deemed to be interested in the Shares beneficially
owned by each other under the SFO.

2. These Shares were held by Yong Li Investments Limited, a company
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lee Shing.

3. These Shares were held by Midway International Holdings Limited, a
company wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Wang Dong.

4. This represents the subscription obligation of J. Thomson Asset
Investment Limited pursuant to the shares subscription agreement dated
8 June 2017 entered into by the Company as the issuer and the J.
Thomson Asset Investment Limited as the subscriber.

5. This represents the subscription obligation of J. Thomson Asset
Investment Limited pursuant to the convertible bonds agreement dated
10 April 2017 entered into by the Company as the issuer and J.
Thomson Asset Investment Limited as the subscriber.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Company had
not been notified of any other person (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying shares which were required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted

EEERE

by the Company on 4 March 2009 and was lapsed on 19 November

2019. The Company shall review the Share Option Scheme in due

course.

Movement of the share options granted by the Company pursuant to

the Share Option Scheme during the year are as follows:

Date of
Name or category grant of
of grantees share options
ERANEE RmBRE
&Rl )=t

Adjusted
Exercise
Price
(HKS)
mRE
THE
(&)

BREE
ARFRZTTNEF =AM A RME R 2
((WRESTE )  ZABR—F—AF+— 5
FAB KK o DR e AT B -

ARABRRNFEERIBBEARA IR B 2 BREE
T

Number of share options
BREHA
Share

Balance Granted Exercised consolidation Balance

Exercise as at during during during as at
Period 01.04.2019 the Year the Year theyear  31.03.2020
R=ZB-1%F R-B-%F

mA—A REFE REAFE RAEE =ZA=+-H

TEAM LR B BT BRGE 5 ko33

Substantial Shareholder

FERE
Mr. Ma Qianzhou 19/11/2009
LA bias

Spouse of Substantial
Shareholder

FERRES
Ms. Zhao Yuebing 19/11/2009
ek S

Employees In aggregate  19/11/2009
EEAF

Total
Fotas

1.71

1.71

1.71

19/11/2009- 35,540,100 - - - Nil
18/11/2019 z
(lapsed) (lapsed)
(BER) (BER)

19/11/2009- 6,581,500 - - - Nil
18/11/2019 z
(lapsed) (lapsed)
(BER) (BER)

19/11/2009- 25,667,850 - - - Nil
18/11/2019 z
(lapsed) (lapsed)
(B&%) (B&30)

67,789,450 - - - Nil
(lapsed)
(BEH)
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Note:
1. The share options granted are vested upon granted.

2. As aresult of the Open Offer of the Company, adjustments are required
to be made to the exercise prices and the number of the Shares falling
to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding share options in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme,
Rule 23.03(13) of the GEM Listing Rules and the supplementary
guidance dated 5 September 2005 regarding the adjustments to share
options issued by the Stock Exchange. Details were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 5 May 2017.

3. As aresult of the share consolidation of the Company, adjustments are
required to be made to the exercise prices and the number of the
Shares falling to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding share
options in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme, Rule 23.03(13) of the GEM Listing Rules and the
supplementary guidance dated 5 September 2005 regarding the
adjustments to share options issued by the Stock Exchange. Details
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 5 March 2019.

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in

note 29(ii) to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The loans from Mr. Ma and Ms. Zhao Yuebing, directors of Taizhou
Mining and thus connected persons of the Group, to Taizhou Mining
were fully exempt connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules as these were conducted on normal
commercial terms or better and these were not secured by the assets

of the Group.
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The Directors consider that those material related party transactions
disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements did not
fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing
connected transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors confirmed
that the Company has complied with the requirements in accordance
with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
included provident fund scheme, share option scheme as well as
discretionary bonuses. The determination of emoluments of the
directors of the Company had taken into consideration of their
respective experience, responsibilities in the Company and the

prevailing market conditions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued Shares was held by the public as at the date

of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 40(iii) to the consolidated financial
statements and this report, the Directors are not aware of any
significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent

to 31 March 2020 end up to the date of approval of this report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
McM (HK) CPA Limited.

McM (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as auditor to the Group on 3
April 2020 to fill the casual vacancy occasioned by the resignation of
Gl CPA Limited with effect from 2 April 2020. The reason for the
change of auditor was that GI CPA Limited no longer intended to
carry out accounting and audit services in Hong Kong and has
ceased to be a certified public accountant and Public Interest Entity

auditor with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
McM (HK) CPA Limited term of office as auditor of the Company will

expire at end of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain the highest standard of
corporate governance as it believes that effective corporate
governance practices are fundamental to enhancing shareholder

value and safeguarding shareholder interests.

The principles of corporate governance adopted by the Group
emphasize a quality board, sound internal control, and transparency

and accountability to all its shareholders.

The Company has adopted the code provisions (the “Code
Provision(s)”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules and the Company had complied with all Code
Provisions as set out in the Code in the Year, except for the following

deviation:

Code Provision A.2.1

Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. During the Year, the role of the
chairman of the Company is performed by Dr. Li, while the office of
the chief executive is vacated following the retirement of Mr. Feng Jun
on 11 September 2017. The Board will keep reviewing the current
structure of the Board from time to time and should candidate with
suitable knowledge, skill and experience be identified, the Company
will make appointment to fill the post of the chief executive as

appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than
the Required Standard of Dealings. Having made specific enquiries of
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
Required Standard of Dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during

the Year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Eva Lee was appointed as the Company Secretary on 20
February 2020 and responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring that the Board policy and
procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures and all
applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary is
responsible for facilitating communications among Directors as well

as with senior management.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in

compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTOR

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group,
overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance, evaluating the performance of the Group and
supervising the management. In addition, the Board reserves the
authority to make final decisions for all major matters of the Company,
including approving and monitoring of budgets, dividend payout,
material transaction, preparation and release of financial information,
appointment of Directors. The Board is also responsible for
performing the corporate governance duties set out in Code Provision
D.3.1 of the Code.

The Board had reviewed the compliance of Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report including the board diversity policy and effectiveness of the
internal control systems. In order to enhance efficiency, the Board
has delegated the day-to-day responsibilities and operations to the
executive Directors and senior management who perform their duties

under the leadership of the chairman of the Company.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises six Directors, including three executive

Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors
Dr. Li Dahong (Chairman)
Ms. Ma Xiaona

Ms. Wang Hongyin

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

With the various experience of the executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and having regard
to the nature of the Group’s business, the Company recognises the
benefits of having a Board with well-balanced experience and
qualifications to maintain a sustainable business development of the
Group in the long run. In recognition of the Company’s commitment
to a well-balanced Board, the nomination committee is entrusted to
review the Company’s human resources policy and recruitment

process to ensure the effectiveness of such policy.
The details of Directors and relationship between the board members

are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors

and Senior Management” on pages 13 to 16 of this report.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the Code, the Board has adopted a board diversity
policy. The Company believes that board diversity is a key element for
the Company to maintain sound corporate governance, realize
sustainable development and achieve strategic objectives. The
Company believes that board diversity enhances decision-making
capability and a diverse board is more effective in dealing with
organizational changes. The Company considers that the concept of
diversity incorporates a number of different aspects, such as
professional experience, business perspectives, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity and
length of service. For the purpose of implementation of the board

diversity policy, the following objectives were adopted:

Independence: The Board should include a balanced composition of
executive and independent non-executive Directors so that there is a
strong element of independence in the Board. The independent non-
executive Directors shall be of sufficient caliber and stature for their

views to carry weight.

Gender: The Company is committed to maintaining an environment of
respect for people regardless of their gender in all business dealings
and achieving a workplace environment free of harassment and
discrimination on the basis of gender, physical or mental state, race,
nationality, religion, age or family status. The same principle is applied

to the selection of potential candidates for appointment to the Board.

Nationality and ethnicity: To cope with the diversified portfolio of the
Company’s businesses, the Company aspires to having a board of
directors of different nationality or ethnic backgrounds who can
contribute their knowledge and understanding of the environment in

which the Company operates its business.
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Skills and experience: The Board possesses a balance of skills
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
The Directors have a mix of finance, academic and management
backgrounds that taken together provide the Company with

considerable experience in a range of activities.

Apart from the above objectives, the board diversity policy has the
following measurable objectives to comply with the GEM Listing

Rules:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be

independent non-executive Directors;

2. at least three of the members of the Board shall be independent

non-executive Directors; and
3. at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives under board

diversity policy as at 31 March 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

During the Year, 10 Board meetings and one general meeting were
held. Set out below are the attendance records of all the Directors at
the Company’s board meetings, board committee meetings and

general meetings held during the Year:

Board
Meeting

Ezeed

EELEER

AEEEBTIOREFERAR —RBRAE -
PREFRAERRT2AAAEFGEH - 3
EZEEEGHRBEAGZ HFEHBIIMT -

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Committee Committee Committee General

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

ENZEE  HHZEE REZEE

L L g3 RRAE

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings entitled to attend

HEEERY ARHFEERY

Executive Directors: HTES:

Dr. Li Dahong FREET 1010
Ms. Ma Xiaona ezt 10/10
Ms. Wang Hongyin ArRERL 10/10

Independent Non-executive BYFHTES:

Directors:
Mr. Guo Wei BB 10/10
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum WEREE 10110
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung REERE 1010

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

According to Code Provision D.3 of the Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties of the
Company. The Board has the following duties and responsibilities for

performing the corporate governance duties of the Company:

1. to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on

corporate governance;
2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management of the

Group;
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3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the

Directors; and

5. to review the Group’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report and in annual report of the

Company.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to the Code Provision A.6.5 under Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules, all Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Each Director received induction on the first
occasion of his appointment, so as to ensure that he has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group and that
he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities and obligations under the
GEM Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory

requirements.

During the Year, all Directors participated in continuous professional
development regarding their duties and responsibilities under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirement which included reading
materials in relation to legal or regulatory update and/or attending

training courses.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-

executive Directors to be independent.
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST

If a Director has a conflict of interest in relation to a transaction or
proposal to be considered by the Board, such Director is required to
declare his interest and to abstain from voting. The matter is
considered at a Board meeting attended by Directors who have no

material interest in the transaction.

BOARD COMMITTEES

During the Year, the Company had three committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”), and the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) to assist the Board in
discharging its duties and responsibilities. The committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are
able to obtain outside independent professional advice in connection
with their duties at the Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the financial
information of the Company, oversee the financial reporting process
and risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
maintain an appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditors and
provide advice and comments to the Board.

The Audit Committee has written terms of reference that sets out its
authorities and duties, which has been published on the websites of

the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive
Directors. Members of the Audit Committee during the Year and up
to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (Chairman)

Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

Five meetings had been held by the Audit Committee during the Year.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with the
management the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2020, the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements for the three months ended 30 June 2019, for
the six months ended 30 September 2019 and for the nine months
ended 31 December 2019, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and auditing, risk management and internal
control systems and financial reporting matters. The audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 have

been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are reviewing and
supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board,
identifying qualified individuals to become members of the Board,
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the

appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to diversity of members of the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members.
It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skKills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate
decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that the

selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the following policies for the nomination of

directors.

Selection Criteria

In determining the suitability of a candidate, the Nomination
Committee and the Board shall consider the potential contributions
that a candidate can bring to the Board and/or the Group. The
Nomination Committee would consider a candidate in terms of
quallifications, skills, experience, independence and other factors. The

following shows a non-exhaustive list of selection criteria:

° the candidate’s race, reputation, character and integrity;

° the candidate’s qualifications, skills, knowledge, business
judgment and experience which are relevant to the operations

of the Group;

° the relevant factors set out in the Board Diversity Policy (as

amended from time to time);

Nomination Procedures

The evaluation, recommendation, nomination, selection and
appointment or re-appointment of each proposed Director shall be
assessed and considered by the Nomination Committee and the

Board against the Selection Criteria and the Board Diversity Policy.

In the context of appointment of any proposed candidate to the
Board:

° the Nomination Committee may take such measures that it
considers appropriate in connection with its identification and
evaluation of candidates, including referrals from the Directors,

shareholders, management, advisors of the Company;
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° the Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the
character, qualification, knowledge and experience of the
candidate and perform adequate due diligence in respect of

such candidate; and

° the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations by
submitting the candidate’s personal profile to the Board for its

consideration.

The Nomination Committee has written terms of reference that sets
out its authorities and duties, which has been published on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Nomination Committee during the Year and up to the

date of this report are as follows:

Mr. Guo Wei (Chairman)
Ms. Ma Xiaona
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

For the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting.

Summary of the work of the Nomination Committee during the Year

was as follows:

— To review and monitor the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
and make recommendations to the Board regarding any

proposed changes;

— To identify and nominate qualified individuals for appointment as
additional Directors or to fill Board vacancies as and when they
arise. The criteria to be adopted by the Board in considering
each individual shall be their ability to contribute to the effective

carrying out by the Board of its responsibilities; and
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— To make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors in particular the chairman and the chief

executive officer.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duty of the Remuneration Committee is to formulate
transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies and
compensation packages for the Directors and senior management of
the Group. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation
model where it performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board
retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration packages of

individual executive Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee has written terms of reference that sets
out its authorities and duties, which has been published on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year and up to

the date of this report is as follows:
Mr. Guo Wei (Chairman)

Ms. Ma Xiaona
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Two meetings had been held by the Remuneration Committee during
the Year.

Senior management’s remuneration
Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for the
Year falls within the following band:

Number of individuals

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$6,000,000
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the Year, the fees paid/payable to the auditor in respect of the

audit and non-audit services were as follows:

BB AT <&
RAEEN - BN/ AU A BRI
BRI BAMT

Amount (HKS)
Types of services PR 75 28 Bl S£E (BT
Annual audit services FREEZRE 1,200,000
Non-audit services EEZRS -

DIVIDEND POLICY
The dividend policy of the Company is to distribute to its shareholder

the funds surplus to the operating needs, current and future business
development of the Group as determined by the Board. The
Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders subject

to the criteria as set out below.

In accordance with the article of association of the Company and
subject to the relevant laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company in
general meeting may from time to time declare dividends in any
currency to be paid to the Shareholders but no dividend shall be

declared in excess of the amount recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits of the
Company, realized or unrealized, or from any reserve set aside from
profits which the Board determine is no longer needed. With the
sanction of an ordinary resolution dividends may also be declared and
paid out of share premium account or any other fund or account
which can be authorized for this purpose in accordance with the

relevant laws under the Cayman Islands.
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Subject to compliance with applicable laws, rule, regulations and the
articles of association of the Company, in deciding whether to
propose an dividend payout, the Board will take into account, among
other things, the financial results, the earnings, losses and
distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements, the
debt ratio and possible effect on the credit lines, the capital
requirements, the current and future development plans of the
Company, the interests of the Shareholders, dividends received from
the Company’s subsidiaries and associate companies, and other

factors that the Board considers relevant.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and
reserve its sole and absolute right to update, amend, modify and/or
cancel the dividend policy. There can be no assurance that dividends

will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The Directors are responsible for preparation of financial statements
which give true and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of
operations and cash flows of the Group in compliance with
accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and statutory
requirements in relation to financial reporting. In preparation of the
financial statements for the three months ended 30 June 2019, for
the six months ended 30 September 2019, for the nine months
ended 31 December 2019 and for the year ended 31 March 2020,
the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently. The financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020 have been prepared on going concern basis. The
statement of auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent

Auditor’s Report.
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The Group requires sufficient funding for its working capital, debt
repayment, further development and planned acquisitions. The Group
currently faces limited financial resources and for the time being its
net current liabilities are in the red, although there are no immediate
concerns for solvency due to the nature of its current liabilities. Failure
to obtain additional funding in a timely fashion however, may
adversely affect the Group’s operation and its development plan. The
Group is now actively engaged in fund raising, talking to several
interested investors/financiers, negotiating and comparing terms and
conditions, and trying to close fund raising soon to significantly
alleviate the current liability risks. At the same time, the Group is in a
final stage to complete a new process plant. Furthermore the Group
is to continue exploring investment opportunities for acquisitions for
quality mining assets. The successful implementation of these
measures would fundamentally improve the Group’s financial position

and address the current liabilities concerns.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group has
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement

or loss.

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether an internal
audit department is required. Given the relatively simple corporate
and operation structure, the Group currently does not have an internal
audit function. Even though the Group does not maintain an internal
audit function, the Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal

control systems.
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The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The
Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external advisor
of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting

function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to

safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder’s interest.

The Board performs annual reviews on any significant change of the
business environment and establishes procedures to respond the
risks result from significant change of business environment. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to mitigate

the potential losses of the business.

The Group has engaged an independent professional party (the “IC
Expert”) to carry out internal audit functions by conducting an annual
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems during the reporting period. The scope of review
included Corporate Governance, Financial Reporting, Sales and
receipt, Purchase and payment, Human resources management
cycle, Treasury management cycles and Information system. I1C
Expert has reported findings and areas for improvement to the
Company. All recommendations from IC Expert have been adopted.
The Group is committed to implementing the suggested improvement
in the coming year and determined to establish and maintain

adequate risk management and internal control processes.
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The Board approved and adopted an inside information policy and
procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside information.
The insider information policy provide the guidelines to the directors,
management and relevant staff (likely possessing the unpublished
inside information) of the Group to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to the public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. The
procedures include, among others, regularly remind the directors,
management and relevant staff about the compliance with the
securities dealing restrictions as set out in the rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the natification of the regular “Blackout

Period”.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company encourages two-way communications with its
shareholders. Extensive information about the Company’s activities is
provided in our quarterly, interim and annual reports to be sent to the
shareholders. Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to their
shareholdings or the business of the Company are welcomed and will
be dealt with in an informative and timely manner. In order to promote
effective communication, the Company maintains a website on which
financial and other information relating to the Group and its business

are disclosed.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights,
separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors, for
shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at
shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules and the poll results will be published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company at “www.hkexnews.hk”
and “http.//www.grandtg.com”, respectively, after the relevant

shareholders’ meetings.
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Right to convene extraordinary general meeting

Any one or more shareholder of the Company holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of

the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
shall be in writing and sent by post, together with his/her contact
details, such as postal address, email or fax, to the principal office of
the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company by sending the same to the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong, specifying his/her information, contact details and the
proposal(s) he/she intends to put forward at the general meeting
regarding any specified transaction/business and the supporting

documents.

52

BRERRERAE 2R
REEEREARBEREARARAIBRRAGRE
ZARBBRBEANDRt D —2ZEM—ZHE
AARRBR - BREBRHRAEESRARF 2
ERLE@MBR  BREFSARBRRENIAS
MBI EEERAEEZEMER  MABESE
ARBRAERFLEMEEARET - WRE
BEZ2% _+t—QNERN BEFSREEHEH
G AIE2ERATABTUAERTAARA
g MARRAREZERALTENAERESR
ERATHEREZSREAMAGMEL 2SR
Lo

MESSRHEHZEF
BREERNEFTSREEN - AEEHANER
FAEBEET A EL - WHMHERR 2B RS
(PlanE arioit - BEHHEE) ARARAZE
BEEWER  WHEATABARWE

RERAELREZRZER
BRARARBBRARE LIREZRR - AR
BRARARBANEB 2 EBRER - WHARK
ZER - BEFBREREMIEER S, EHN
BRIRRAE FR2 2R MR XXM -



j(%&%?’“ﬂ&*ﬁ'f‘ﬁﬁj
SE-NCECEEFH

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIYRHEHRES

To the shareholders of Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grand T G
Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 183, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements
which reveals that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$38,776,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020 and as at 31
March 2020, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$175,300,000. In addition, the Group’s promissory notes, bonds
and convertible bonds of approximately HK$12,500,000,
HK$19,107,000 and HK$21,396,000 respectively are subject to
repayable on demand as disclosed in notes 26, 25 and 27 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively. Based on the current
liquidity position of the Group, the Group might have financial
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the Group will be able to successfully achieve the
outcomes as set forth in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements to meet its overdue financial obligations from time to time.
QOur opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters
to be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

No.

Key Audit Matter
BRELBE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, mining rights related assets and
construction in progress.

M BERRE KBEEEAREERTEIERN
B -

Refer to accounting policies in note 3(i), significant
accounting judgements and estimates in note 4 and
relevant disclosures made in notes 14 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

2RI EFTBE - M4 E KRG 2IE
KAtiat - ARERE MR BmARMEE 14 R161EH 2 48
RAHRER -

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had property, plant
and equipment, mining rights related assets and
construction in progress relating to the gold mining
operation which amounted to approximately
HK$657,679,000, HK$46,578,000 and
HK$48,826,000 respectively, which were allocated
to the cash generating units (“CGU”) of gold mining
operation. The impairment assessment of CGU of
gold mining operation is a key audit matter due to
its significance and judgement involved.
RZZEZZTF=A=+—H  E5EEFSHK
EBEMIE  BENRE  REEEREER
fEE TR 5 B A# 657,679,000 7T * 46,578,000
7T} 48,826,0008 7T OB ET MK ER
ReEFBEM([ReEEESM])  HREEEUR
B RAE - FESRRERR S EE BRER
HMREREREE -

FRREXEE &)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEZERNIRERRERER

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment

assessment included:
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BEERREMGETZEREFEHRE

Assessing management’s identification of CGU of gold
mining operation based on the Group’s accounting
policies and understanding of the Group’s business;
BE SEEEZSFHRERE ESEEBZ 7B
EREHECRREBRRCELEM 2FR

Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to review the
appropriateness of the value-in-use calculation
methodology adopted by management, the accuracy of the
calculations and the market data used;

ZEGEER B ESRNEEEBMRAZ EHAEES
BERZ@EEMN - fHERERZ TS8R 2 RN

Assessing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions (including mining costs, gold prices and
discount rate) based on the business and industry; and
BEEBRITETHRERFZRZ(BERERKR
HEEREITER) 2B K

Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

EHEGEVHRRTAMERBEZEE M -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

No.

Key Audit Matter
BRELBE

Assessment on the impact of current litigation
cases which the Company or its subsidiary is
being the defendant.

it BEARREMBARREPRENEAF
L 7

ok

>

Refer to significant accounting judgements and
estimates in note 4 and relevant disclosure in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements.
2GR E T BMKRM T 4 EXR G5 HIE R b5t R
BitsE 38 HOMH AKX EE o

The Group is involved in certain litigations which the
Company or its subsidiary is being named as
defendant. The directors are of the opinion that a
successful claim made against the Group under
these litigations is remote and the Group has merits
in the defence against these claims, accordingly no
further provision for these litigations is necessary.

BEEERBA BERRNEMBARAKRENET
Rar - BEERR - RIEZFHAR EXRERNR

EOATREMTEMY - B EXERMRZERE
FEBRE  RBARKFHRATIRE-—TREE -

We identified the above matter as a key audit matter
due to the significant judgement made by the
directors in determining the possible outcome and
implications on its financial statements.

EER R EEET ABREZFE  RERES
RETAIREHRNERREYNBRROTZER
HEEHEARHE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEZERNIRERRERER

Our audit procedures in relation to the assessment on the
impact of current litigation cases included:
EERHBAFARETEZHET 2 ERETFBHA

Obtaining relevant legal documentations regarding those
litigations from the legal team of the Group;

B EXEEREEEFISE BZERDRNMERIERX
:

Discussing with the management and the Company’s legal
team on their views and seeking collaborative evidence that
applied to substantiate the position of the Company;
HEREN BRANEEERREEERRMN® -

YSKANEE BERFHRNAIEERR

Considering the contingency of such litigations and its
potential financial impact that may have to cast on the
consolidated financial statements;
ZEBBNFLNBAMERE AR SR E M RRELES
BEMBEE

Challenging the basis for the Group’s assessment that
no provision is required for these litigations; and

Bi BESEUBARZSFATEERENTHOMK
R

Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure as set
out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Al BRERERS M HRR M I8 E K T 2 SRl -
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2019, were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified option on those statements on 27 June 2019.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the Other
Information. The Other Information comprises all the information in the
Group’s annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon (“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The director of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

e I|dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIYRHEHRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT

OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (Continued)

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIYRHEHRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIYRHEHRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

McM (HK) CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: PO6633
3rd Floor,

Parklane Building,

233 Queen’s Road Central,

Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 30 June 2020

61

REMRBEZGESM B HRRBARIE
Z2EFE @)

RERBEZZEGRBZIEERT BEFIRTHAH
RAEPBREZECRREZRAMBKEREZ
FHZEE BEERMEMmEETHIMZES
B BRIEERIERI AT ARARERHEER -
FIRBHFREZERT - WEERBERSTE
BREHERZBAERRBEEEL Z AR
@ AIEFRETEREREETABZEHR -

RE(BB)EFMSEEMERAT
HEBATAD

& R

ERHEAEE
HEFEI5 : P06633
B

2RRNEH 2335

TR E

31&

B8 —ZE_TFXA=TH



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEEER

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L -FTHFE=H=+1—HIFFE

2020 2019
—EC-EFE —ZT—NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
KtaF FET FAT
Revenue Woas 6 69,643 163,829
Cost of sales SHE A (51,776) (86,308)
Gross profit E7 17,867 77,521
Other income and expenses, net HEmWAKES - F5E 7 (2,843) 3,663
Selling and distribution expenses HE RO HEMAX (3,360) (4,866)
Administrative expenses THFAX (37,043) (32,695)
Operating results RS (25,379) 43,623
Finance costs BhE KA 8 (13,850) (28,013)
(Loss)/profit before tax BEAT(E18), 5T 9 (39,229) 15,610
Income tax credit/(expense) FrigBige, (M%) 10 453 (7,849)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (BEB) &7 (38,776) 7,761
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable FE (EE),HAEBER
to:
Equity holders of the Company RAGERFEEA (35,239) 33
Non-controlling interests FEPE R = (3,537) 7,728
(38,776) 7,761
HK Cents HK Cents
4l AL
(Loss)/earnings per share SR (BR) B
Basic HA 13(3) (2.35) —*
Diluted s 13(b) (2.35) >

* Represent amount less than HK$ cents 0.01
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CONSOLDATED STATEMENT OF PROHT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEaRkEtEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L -FTHFE=H=+1—HIFFE

2020 2019
i —T-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kzt FTERT FAT
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BB) &5 (38,776) 7,761
Other comprehensive income FEHM2ERE
for the year, net of tax: HIBRBE -
Item that may be reclassified HEJpeE 71825
subsequently to profit or loss ZIHEE
Exchange differences arising from BB A R
translation of financial statements WEMEEXCERERE
of overseas subsidiaries (23,922) (23,984)
Total comprehensive expense FELXHBAXEE
for the year (62,698) (16,223)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ 2 (FX), WAL
income attributable to: RN
Equity holders of the Company RAGIERRFFEA (58,174) (24,903)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R = (4,524) 8,680
(62,698) (16,223)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= A s 3
mE AR R R
As at 31 March 2020 R-—FE-—F&=H=+4+—f
2020 2019
— —T-NF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Mat F&ET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WEKERE 14 657,679 675,291
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 15 584 -
Mining rights related assets B S E 16 46,578 50,305
Construction in progress EEIR 14 48,826 51,433
753,667 777,029
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories =& 18 8,251 8,158
Promissory notes HOHEE 19 2,000 4,000
Deposits, prepayments and other & ENRUEREM
receivables FENARIR 20 14,044 16,555
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEIER 21 2,141 2,196
26,436 30,909
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and other payables B E SRR R EA
FERTRRIR 23 61,186 31,691
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 555 -
Promissory notes A E g 26 12,500 12,500
Tax payables FEI B8 60,256 63,537
Bonds &5 25 19,107 18,589
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE 24 300 1,507
Convertible bonds Al R AR E A 27 21,396 18,655
175,300 146,479
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEFE (148,864) (115,570)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 604,803 661,459
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= A N
e MR AR R &
As at 31 March 2020 WR-ZE-—ZE#=H=+—H
2020 2019
— —T-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mat FHxT FHET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Trade and other payables ERNBZERR
EfbpEfERIA 23 802 -
Lease liabilities HEeEBE 22 74 -
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE 24 364,872 359,230
Deferred tax liabilities EERIARE 36 1,435 1,888
367,183 361,118
NET ASSETS EEFE 237,620 300,341
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRR A E
Share capital fi& A 28 89,807 89,807
Reserves w1 30 115,064 173,261
Equity attributable to equity holders of AN RIS 58 A 1L
the Company s 204,871 263,068
Non-controlling interests FEIZE AR R = 32,749 37,273
TOTAL EQUITY s 237,620 300,341

The financial statements on pages 62 to 183 were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2020 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Li Dahong
£ N
Director

EE
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019/2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREZBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L -FTHFE=H=+1—HIFFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

AARRERE AR
Foreign
Issued currency Share - Convertible Non-
share Share  translation option bonds  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
MeRE  BRE TRRES
2EfTRE  RiEE it il R EiTEB G FERER it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Tér Tz TR TR TER Tén Tz TEr  TEx
Asat 1 Aprl 2019 RZE-NENA-H 89807 1842983  (13371) 26,703 12543 (1,695597) 263,068 37,273 300,341
Adjustments on inffial application of B REREBHBREEAE
HKFRS 16 1652 B% = = = = = (23) (23) - (23
Restated balance asat 1 Apri 2019 A=Z-hEMA-RZEE
e 89807 1842983  (13371) 26,703 12543 (1,695,620) 263,045 37,213 300318
Lapse of share options BREXT - - - (26,709 - 26,703 - - -
Loss for the year EERE - - - - - (35239) (35289  (3537)  (38,776)
Other comprehensive expense A2 ERY
Bxchange differences aising from - RREENHBL AN ERR
franslation of financial statements of ~ FEA 7 EHZE
overseas subsidiaries - - (2293 - - - (229%) (987) (23922
Changes for the year EEEg - - (22985 (26,709 - (8536)  (58,174)  (4524)  (62,698)
As at 31 March 2020 RZE-FF=A=1-H 89807 1,842,983  (36,306) - 12543 (1,704,156) 204,871 32,749 237,620
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREZBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L -FTHFE=H=+1—HIFFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARAERRE AR

Foreign
Issued currency Share - Convertible Non-
share Share  tranglation option bonds  Accumulated controling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total  interests Total
NERE BRE ARG
BEARE  RIVER 1 G RE  ZER T SRR @t
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
Tén  TEr  TEx  TEr  TEx TEr TR TR TEn
Asat 1 April 2018 RZF-\§mA-H 89,807 1,842,983 11,565 26,703 12543 (1695630 287,971 28593 316,564
Profit for the year FEER - - - - - 3 3 7728 7761
Other comprehensive (expense)income: e 2 (B%) /A :
Exchange differences arising from RAEENHBARNS
franslation of fnancial statements of ~ BEHELZESEE
overseas subsidliaries - - (24,936) - - - (24930 952 (23984)
Changes for the year FRZ - - (24930) - - 33 (4909 8680 (16229)
As at 31 March 2019 RZF-NFZR=1-H 80807 1842983  (13871) 26,703 12543 (1695597) 263,068 37273 300,341
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L -FTHFE=H=+1—HIFFE

2020 2019
—EC-EFE —ZT—NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FTER FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING  XREKZZIBHNHESHE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax BriAT (&518),Sa A (39,229) 15,610
Adjustments for: PATZIBIEL FHEE -
Depreciation on property, plant and M R NEEU R
equipment and mining rights related BEREEENITE
assets 33,135 34,568
Finance costs & Ak AN 13,850 28,013
Gain on waiver of interest of BB B 8
borrowings 1) (396)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREENTE 565 -
Exchange difference ME 5 - 3
Impairment losses on other receivables — H {th fE U BRIE 8 (B /&5 18 2,438 -
Provisions written back BB ) (1,662) (293)
Bank interest income RITF BN 48 -
Written off of other receivables it 5 E fh pE UK BR 1B - 5
Gain on waiver of former director’s NP RIE S HA R
remuneration - (8,141)
Gain on waiver of other payables N H i FEBRIE S - (1,432)
Impairment losses on promissory notes 74 4, &R EE 18 2,000 -
Operating result before working REBEESEHAHN
capital changes G 11,144 72,937
Changes in inventories FE# 642 10,553
Changes in deposits, prepayments & - BNEIEREA
and other receivables JE Uk B T8 A 2,873 6,432
Changes in trade and other payables FERTE SRR R H A
JE BRI B &) 35,308 (53,878)
Cash generated from operations REXBELE RS 49,967 36,044
Oversea taxation paid BATEINSIE - -
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENES 2R B 37 (93) -
Interest paid BERFE (8) -
Net cash generated from operating BREEEESEE RS FE
activities 49,866 36,044
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #H#Zx - ZE_-FF=H=—1—HIFFEZ

2020 2019
—ECERF —T-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
KtaF FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHEEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE - WEMEE
equipment (59,281) (114,068)
Expenditure incurred on mining rights ~ IRIEEHBEEEL 2
related assets FsZ (824) (720)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME -  BEREEZ
plant and equipment Frig kI8 - 23
Payment for promissory notes T EH EE = (4,000)
Expenditure incurred on construction in - FEE TI2E A4 7 B X
progress (855) -
Interest received B F 8 48 -
Net cash used in investing activities REEBHFFAREFE (60,912) (118,765)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings raised REFEGERNE
RIH 37 39,114 95,018
Repayment of borrowings EIEER 37 (26,084) (38,053)
Repayment of convertible bonds BiEnin HX1$% 37 (1,204) (1,204)
Principal element of lease payment HENRZEEEHD 37 (543) -
Net cash from financing activities ME BB FEEE 11,283 55,761
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReRREEEER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2, CRd) B8 237 (26,960)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April ROAA—BZzHRe kRS
£EIER 2,196 22,377
Effect of foreign exchange rate PR B E) BT
changes, net (292) 6,779
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R=ZA=+—HZBEER
AT 31 MARCH RE%EERAE 21 2,141 2,196
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. Its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room A-B, 8th
Floor, Centre Mark Il, 305-313 Queen’s Road Central, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred to
as the “Group” hereinafter) are principally engaged in gold
exploration, mining and mineral processing. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the

consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), which is the functional currency of the Company, with
values rounded to the nearest thousand. The functional currency
of the Group’s operating subsidiary, Tungguan Taizhou Mining

Company Limited (“Taizhou Mining”) is Renminbi (‘RMB”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

Going concern assumption

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group incurred a loss of
approximately HK$38,776,000 and as at 31 March 2020, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$175,300,000. In contrast, the Group’s promissory notes,
bonds and convertible bonds of approximately HK$12,500,000,
HK$19,107,000 and HK$21,396,000 respectively are subject to
repayable on demand as disclosed in notes 26, 25 and 27 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively. Based on the
current liquidity position of the Group, the Group might have
financial uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In preparing
these consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the impact of the
current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group. The validity
of the Group to operate as a going concern is dependent upon
the successful outcomes of the Group to (i) attain profitable and
positive cash flows from operations; and (i) renew or extend the
existing borrowings, complete debt financing or obtain new
credit line, at a level sufficient to finance the working capital
requirements and financial obligations of the Group. Having
considered the above scenarios, the directors considered that it
is appropriate to adopt the going concern in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. In order to strengthen the
Group’s capital base and liquidity in the foreseeable future, the

Group has taken the following measures:

e the directors of the Company have been taking various
cost control measures to tighten the costs of operations
and implementing various strategies to enhance the

Group’s revenue;

° negotiating with bankers and lenders to extend the

repayment terms of borrowings; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

Going concern assumption (Continued)
e a substantial shareholder of the Company agreed to
provide financial support to the Group to meet its liabilities

as and when they fall due.

Based on the cash flow projections of the Group and having
taken into account the available financial resources of the Group
together with the above measures, the directors have concluded
that the Group is able to continue as a going concern and to
meet their financial liabilities as and when they fall due for the
next twelve months. Should the Group be unable to continue as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to the
consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively.
The effects of these potential adjustments have not been

reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which in collective term includes all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting

policies adopted by the Group are discussed in Note 3 below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1.
The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2 below provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting

periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 2.

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16 Leases,
and a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2019.

Except for HKFRS 16, none of the developments have had
a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been prepared

or presented.
The Group has not applied any new standard or

interpretation that is not yet effective for the current

accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Adoption of HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16 supersedes HKAS 17 Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC) 15 Operating
Leases-Incentives and HK(SIC) 27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a
Lease. HKFRS 16 introduced a single accounting model for
lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability for all leases, except for leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of

low-value assets.

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify
leases as either operating or finance leases using similar
principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore, HKFRS 16 did not
have an impact on leases where the Group is the lessor.
The lessor accounting requirements are brought forward

from HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable
users of the financial statements to assess the effect that
leases have on the financial position, financial performance

and cash flows of an entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1 April
2019. The Group has elected to use the modified
retrospective approach and has therefore recognised the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to
the opening balance of equity at 1 April 2019. Comparative
information has not been restated and continues to be
reported under HKAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition options
applied are set out below:

(@ New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to
the concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease on the
basis of whether a customer controls the use of an
identified asset for a period of time, which may be
determined by a defined amount of use. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in
HKFRS 16 only to contracts that were entered into or
changed on or after 1 April 2019. For contracts
entered into before 1 April 2019, the Group has used
the transitional practical expedient to grandfather the
previous assessment of which existing arrangements
are or contain leases. Accordingly, contracts that were
previously assessed as leases under HKAS 17
continue to be accounted for as leases under HKFRS
16 and contracts previously assessed as non-lease
service arrangements continue to be accounted for as
executory contracts.
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 2.

(Continued)

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to
classify leases as either operating leases or finance
leases, as was previously required by HKAS 17.
Instead, the Group is required to capitalise all leases
when it is the lessee, including leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, other
than those short-term leases and leases of low-value

assets which are exempt.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases
previously classified as operating leases, the Group
has applied the incremental borrowing rates of the
relevant group entities at the date of initial application.
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate
applied is 12.87%.

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group
applied the following recognition exemption and
practical expedients at the date of initial application of
HKFRS 16:

(i)  elected not to apply the requirements of HKFRS
16 in respect of the recognition of lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets to leases for which the
remaining lease term ends within 12 months
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
i.e. where the lease term ends on or before 31
March 2020;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

(Continued)

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with a similar remaining terms for similar
class of underlying assets in a similar economic
environment. Specifically, discount rate for
certain leases of properties was determined on a

portfolio basis;

used hindsight based on facts and circumstances
as at date of initial application in determining the
lease term for the Group’s leases with extension

options;

excluded initial direct costs from measuring the
right-of-use assets at the date of initial

application; and
relied on the assessment of whether leases are

onerous by applying HKAS 37 as an alternative

to an impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

recognised as at 1 April 2019:

e MR RMTE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 2. BRNFFIRBEITEAMERE

(Continued) 28 (#)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued) (@) ERFIRLIETERMBEREER
(&)
Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued) BB B BREERE16% (&)
(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued) (b) FEHEASEHEEL ERBEEZ
Z(&)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing M EAEERAEHREEEL
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of- HEREaE HEXS G ZIEIL
use assets and the related lease liabiltties, the Group first MEMmMS  AEBEesLEEER
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable EHNRESFARFERAEEESR
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities. HEAE-
The following table reconciles the operating lease TRHEFR_ZE—NF=ZA=1—
commitments as disclosed in note 31 as at 31 March B 2 & TR ERYE (R 31 i
2019 to the opening balance for lease liabilities B)ENR_ZT—NFWNA—HDHE

R HER BN K -

HK’000
T
Operating lease commitments at 31 March 2019 REBREUBREBECR TN
as disclosed in the Group’s consolidated FZRA=+—HZEERERIE
financial statements 1,304
Discounted using the Group’s incremental FERAEER-_ZE—-NENA—AKR
borrowing rate and lease liabilities recognised ZEEBRFNELEEEEER
at 1 April 2019 1,172
Of which are: He:
Current lease liabilities mBHEas 543
Non-current lease liabilities FERBEEGE 629
Lease liabilities recognised at 1 April 2019 R-ZZE—hFNA—BBRAZHAEERE 1,172
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 2. R#F T REEITEEMBRE
(Continued) 28 (#)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued) (@) ERFIRLIETERMBEREER
(&)

RANBEBYBHMEERFE165 ()
AN EETEIE T )R BE MR

Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (Continued)

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously
classified as operating leases have been recognised
at an amount equal to the amount recognised for the
remaining lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
that lease recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at 31 March 2019.

Refundable rental deposits paid, if any, are accounted
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”)
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-ofuse

assets.

The following table summaries the impacts of the
adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position:

)

Carrying amount

& (&)
ERNBRKEHEZHEZA
AEREEECSRERNGTHE
EREZCHRS R IR
TR -_ZE—-NLF=A
=t BZHEAUBHRRKRER
ZHERRM 2 EMENKERHE
BIELRAE -

=,
S

ERES

REEMNEERE (0B RIEE
AHMBEHRESENESREMTA
((EEMBHREERNESR DA
Bk RN THERE - R
REH A FE 2 BB AEIME
BN WETAERBEERA -

TRBUR RN E B I 5 s R
F1RBAREEERE P BAHNE
EEZFE:

Carrying amount

as at Recognition as at
31 March 2019 of leases 1 April 2019
Line items in the consolidated

statement of financial position ZIHRMAEBHBHREEN KT F NZE—hE
impacted by the adoption of ~ £ 165 E G =A=+—8H mA—H
HKFRS 16 BRKIER ZBREE HEMRR ZBRHEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK’000
TAET TET TET

Asset BE
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 1,149 1,149

Liabilities B
Lease liabilities HEERE - 1,172 1,172
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

()

Impact of the financial results and cash flows of the
Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019, the Group as a lessee
is required to recognise interest expense accrued on the
outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. This results in a positive impact on the
reported loss from operations in the Group’s
consolidated statement of profit or loss, as compared to
the results if HKAS 17 had been applied during the year.

In the cash flow statement, the Group as a lessee is
required to split rentals paid under capitalised leases
into their principal element and interest element (note
37). These elements are classified as financing cash
outflows and operating cash outflows respectively.
Although total cash flows are unaffected, the adoption
of HKFRS 16 therefore results in a significant change
in presentation of cash flows within the statement of
cash flows (note 37).

The following tables give an indication of the estimated
impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s
financial result and cash flows for the year ended 31
March 2020, by adjusting the amounts reported under
HKFRS 16 in these consolidated financial statements
to compute estimates of the hypothetical amounts
that would have been recognised under HKAS 17 if
this superseded standard had continued to apply in
2019 instead of HKFRS 16, and by comparing these
hypothetical amounts for 2020 with the actual 2019
corresponding amounts which were prepared under
HKAS 17.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

(©)

Impact of the financial results and cash flows of the

2. BRHEIREBIERMBRE

28 (&)
@ ERFITRCETESMEHEER
(48)

RANBEBYBHMEERFE165 ()
c HAEEYBEREREEZREZ

Group (Continued) FE(E)
2020 2019
—ECER —E-NE
Deduct:
Estimated
amounts
related to Compared to
Add back: operating Hypothetical amounts
Amounts  HKFRS 16 lease as amounts reported
reported depreciation if under for 2020 for 2019
under and interest HKAS 17  asif under under
HKFRS 16 expense (note 1) HKAS 17 HKAS 17
ks : B
ReEHE2 B
meE : &% fhste€®E —B-BF _"T-NF
BEEE B%EE  CEURE 2BRLE RIBEEE
BBHRERL ERE16% FESHERN (BURE Rl
F16%2H TZHER F17H) BEGHEL F17HRER
ok x FERX (Hizt1) F17H) Z2FUR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK’000
TER THT THET THT THT
Consolidated financial result 5 FRANE B B3RS
for year ended 31 March REE16HTEL
2020 impacted by the B2 -%F=
adoption of HKFRS 16: A=t—HIEE
IRE MRS
Operating results REEE (25,379) 565 (636) (25,450) 43,623
Finance costs BERAR (13,850) 93 - (18,757) (28,013)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (B518), 5 (39,229) 658 (636) (39,207) 15,610
(Loss)/profit for the year EN(BE),/ &7 (38,776) 658 (636) (38,754) 7,761
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 2. BRNFFIRBEITEAMERE

(Continued) 28 (#)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued) (@) EAFITIRLEITEBHEREER
(#&)

Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued) BB B BREERE16% (&)

(c) Impact of the financial results and cash flows of the () HAEFHHBEEERESTES
Group (Continued) FE(E)
2020 2019
b St 23 —Z-NF
Estimated
amounts
related to Hypothetical Compared to
Amounts operating amounts amounts
reported leases as if for 2020 reported
under under HKAS 17 as if under  for 2019 under
HKFRS 16 (note 1) HKAS 17 HKAS 17
BERRERE
AR St 32
BREEBHE (HUREEHE ZBEREE H-TNE
WEER BER (BUREEE BEEEe:
F16HER A7) &S AERIE17 5
ZEH (Hizt1) B17H) W BEHR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK’000 HK’000
TEr TEr TEr FET
Line items in the consolidated ~ SZIRMNEB BH BR S %
cash flow statement for AE6RFECHE
year ended 31 March 2020 ZTZTF=R
impacted by the adoption of —t—HEFEZLR
HKFRS 16: AReRERER
Cash generated from operations &2 £BEL7BEE 49,967 (636) 49,331 37,734
Interest element of lease BENHEERS
rentals paid FEHS (93) 93 - -
Net cash generated from BERERSEL Y
operating activities Be 58 49,866 (543) 46,323 37,734
Capital element of lease ENHERE
rentals paid BRI (543) 543 - -
Net cash from financing REEHEREFH
activities 11,283 543 11,826 55,761
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 2. BFITRRIEFTEBUMBRE
(Continued) 28 &)

(@ ERFIREBIELHEREE (L)
FANE BB REERE165 ()

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)
Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

(¢) Impact of the financial results and cash flows of the © HAEEFEUBFEEREDREZ
Group (Continued) E(E)
Note 1: The “estimated amounts related to operating Hizt1: [BERAKEEE 2 A2 5]

EHEBR B ERNE17HR
RZZEZZEFNHARBRAZIE
ATELEAKEHEZH
EEEN T _TFRLR
B2 G ZEFR
& EEABGTEREITR
RZZEZZEFMHARABAZIE
AT HEeRBEREZME
VEZE BR_Z_FF
VR EEHAEBRES
B EREITH L EAK
EHE - AWEEFHBEY
L PREET o

leases” is an estimate of the amounts of the cash
flows in 2020 that relate to leases which would have
been classified as operating leases, if HKAS 17 had
still applied in 2020. This estimate assumes that
there were no difference between rentals and cash
flows and that all of the new leases entered into in
2020 would have been classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17, if HKAS 17 had still applied
in 2020. Any potential net tax effect is ignored.

(b) EEMEBERERNHITREBTE
78 Rt 35 8% 5 2

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the
financial year beginning on or before 1 April 2019. These
new and revised HKFRSs include the following which may
be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of 1 April 2020
Material (amendments)
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 1 April 2020

Hedge accounting (amendments)

HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business 1 April 2020
(@amendments)
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 April 2021

(new standard)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or
Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture (amendments)

To be determined
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 2. BRNFFIRBEITEAMERE
(Continued) 28 (#)
b) DEMBENREMGHFTREEBTE

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output. A
business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments
remove the assessment of whether market participants are
capable of acquiring the business and continue to produce
outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired inputs
and acquired substantive processes together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments
have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on
goods or services provided to customers, investment
income or other income from ordinary activities.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance to assess
whether an acquired process is substantive and introduce
an optional fair value concentration test to permit a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020.
Since the amendments apply prospectively to transactions
or other events that occur on or after the date of first
application, the Group will not be affected by these

amendments on the date of transition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 2. BRNFFIRBEITEAMERE
(Continued) 28 (#)
b) DEMENREMGFTREBTE

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
address the effects of interbank offered rate reform on
financial reporting. The amendments provide temporary
reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue during
the period of uncertainty before the replacement of an
existing interest rate benchmark. In addition, the
amendments require companies to provide additional
information to investors about their hedging relationships
which are directly affected by these uncertainties. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 April 2020. Early application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant

impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition
of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective
date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new
mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments

are available for adoption now.

85

BRI EER ()

RV BHREERNEON - BEGFE
AIE IR R B AEM B HRELENE 75
ZAEET Tht SR 1T R 247 B o BBt
BHRENTE - BB RHERFMT
RIE - IRER RGN R EER
T7 75 N HE T I B B ) A AL 48 (58 A
BRI - IS BB ERAA
AREERKBBERIZEIHEE
HEENHPRERIBINER - BE
IR _Z_FFNA—HHEZER
MRz FEMMAR YU RFEA -
BHARETTeE A RENYBR
REREMEBRZE

BEMBHRELENEI0REEFE ST
RERIF 28 (=T ——F) 2E5 R IE
FEMBHRELRFE10RETES
ERIF 28I (—F——F) HERE
BREEEABENARAELEZRE
MEELEIETEZREN BB
Mo REEATRE  REFHREBRZN
AHEELE L HNEELESTER
R —IREFE - IR RRER e
1B PR TEREBZEENR S
ME  KBAEEZ WEHEBRNIE
EHZBRBETHER  EENIFEEREE
RZBERRRAELENED /R -
BRETRERLER - BEGQ
SER T R"F-ABKREENBH
HREAF0R BB ERIE 2855
(ZF——F) BT L RE s £ A
5 T A0SR AR B HR R SE Ak g
BRANAELEZ ST RITETER
IR RETE o A BRERTRE
AIERERAR



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

(Continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the
nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement of
information is material if it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
April 2020. The amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared

under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment
in the process of applying the accounting policies. The area
involving critical judgement, and areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these financial statements, are

disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of

these consolidated financial statements are set out below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(@)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 March.
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.

Control is achieved when the company:

(i)  has power over the investee;

(i) is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investment; and

(iiy  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible are considered when

assessing whether the Group has control.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary represents
the difference between the proceeds of the sale and the
Group’s share of its net assets together with any goodwill
relating to the subsidiary which was not previously charged
or recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and also any related accumulated foreign currency

translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(@)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
profits on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed when necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, statement of changes in

equity and statement of financial position respectively.

Business combination

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises
the:

o fair values of the assets transferred

e liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired

business

e equity interests issued by the group
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuead)

(b) Business combination (Continued)

e MR RMTE

e  fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a

contingent consideration arrangement, and

e fair value of any pre-existing

subsidiary.

equity interest in the

|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent

liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with

limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at

the acquisition date. The group recognises any non-

controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-

by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-

controlling interest’s proportionate

entity’s net identifiable assets.

share of the acquired

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the

— consideration transferred,

— amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired

entity, and

— acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity

interest in the acquired entity.

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is

recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the

fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business

acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or

loss as a bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

©

Business combination (Continued)

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a
financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability
are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in

fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising

from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other

sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sale of gold is recognised when control
of the gold has transferred, being when the gold had been
dispatched to the buyer’s specific location (delivery).
Following delivery, the buyer has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell the gold, has the
primary responsibility when on selling the gold and bears
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the gold. A
receivable is recognised by the Group when the gold are
delivered to the buyer as this represents the point in time at
which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as

only the passage of time is required before payment is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(©

(d)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of

the asset.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost of self-constructed properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant,
of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an

appropriate proportion of production overhead.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or

loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their

estimated useful lives as follows:

— Freehold land is not depreciated.

— Buildings situated on freehold land are depreciated
over their estimated useful life, being no more than 50

years after the date of completion.

— Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50

years after the date of completion.

— Plant and machinery 10-30 years

—  Others 3-10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and

its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use. The gain or loss on disposal or
retirement of an asset is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and

is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e

(9)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Alternatively, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated

impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
assets are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Mining rights

Mining rights with definite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment loss. Amortisation is provided using the unit of
production method based on the actual production volume
over the estimated total proved and probable reserves of
the ore.

Exploration and evaluation assets

These are stated at cost less impairment loss. Exploration
and evaluation assets included topographical and
geological survey drilling, exploratory drilling, sampling and
trenching and expenditure incurred for the technical
feasibility studies and incurred to secure further
mineralisation in the mine ore. Expenditure incurred prior to
obtaining the exploration and evaluation rights to explore
an area are written off as expense as incurred. Once the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting
the mineral resource had been determined and that the
project reaches development phase, exploration and
evaluation costs capitalised are amortised. If exploration
property is abandoned during the evaluation stage, the
total expenditure thereon will be written off.
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e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Exploration and evaluation assets (Continued)

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the
carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation assets may

exceed its recoverable amount.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with
respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease

term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets.

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted
by using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its

incremental borrowing rate.
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e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Leases (Continued)

Lease liabilities

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under
residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include
the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group

exercising the option to terminate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the

consolidated statements of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the

carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a

revised discount rate at the date of reassessment;

e the lease payments change due to changes in
expected payment under a guaranteed residual value,
in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using the

initial discount rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The associated right-of-use assets were measured at the
amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount
of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that
lease recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
They are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter period of lease term and the useful life of the
underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase
option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over

the useful life of the underlying asset.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line

item on the consolidated statements of financial position.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or that
are not yet available for use are reviewed for impairment
annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

i)

0

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets (Continued)
The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written
down as an expense through the consolidated statement
of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease. The recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the

individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being

measured.

Inventories
Gold Mining Division
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, cost of conversion
and other costs incurred in bring the inventories to their

present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make to

the sale.
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e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

K)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions

of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at

FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a

collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

K)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or

loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the

counterparty.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are measured
subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair
value, depending on the classification of the financial

assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

K)

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one

of the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the

effective interest method.

— FVTOCI — recycling, if the contractual cash flows of
the investment comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held within a
business model whose objective is achieved by both
the collection of contractual cash flows and sale.
Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition in
profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity

to profit or loss.

— FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment

(including interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

K)

()

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It
is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit

or loss as other income.

Financial instruments

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
The accounting policies adopted for specific financial

liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continuead)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

()  Borrowings

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

e MR RMTE

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of

transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are

subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference

between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and

the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss over the period of the

borrowings using the effective

interest method.

Interest-bearing borrowings are classified as current

liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right

to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12

months after the reporting date.

(i) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are presented as current

liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months

after the reporting period. They are recognised initially

at their fair value and subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(i) Convertible bonds that contain an equity component

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity

share capital at the option of the holder, where the

number of shares that would be issued on conversion

and the value of the consideration that would be

received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as

compound financial instruments which contain both a

liability component and an equity component.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

(i) Convertible bonds that contain an equity component

(Continued)

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible notes is measured at fair value based on
the present value of the future interest and principal
payments, discounted at the market rate of interest
applicable at the time of initial recognition to similar
liabilities that do not have a conversion option. The
equity component is initially recognised at the
difference between the fair value of the convertible
bonds as a whole and the fair value of the liability
component. Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of a compound financial instrument are allocated to
the liability and equity components in proportion to the

allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the liability component is calculated
using the effective interest method. The equity
component is recognised in the capital reserve until

either the bonds is converted or redeemed.

If the bonds is converted, the capital reserve, together
with the carrying amount of the liability component at
the time of conversion, is transferred to share capital
and share premium as consideration for the shares
issued. If the bonds is redeemed, the capital reserve

is released directly to retained profits.

103

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. EXBHEEBRE #)

V)

SWMIA(E)
SHERE(E)

(i)

BE#RE WA RRES (&)
VHIATERE - ATMRRENRE
#8992 A BN 75 B R 1 [R) SR
BENRERRERANOT SN E
FHEATIRERIRA B A
MIRERER  RATFEE-
BEmE D MiaERSERB AR
BEHFORFEEBERDHNAF
BEZHENER - HTEAaSHT
AMHERZRASREMER

BB A D EER BEMED
#B
BEMD H & ABHEK AR

?ﬁf%%%ﬁﬁ?ﬂamqﬂﬁﬁwﬁ’]ﬂ
XHRAERMERGHE - ##a
2Ry Al ZE éfwuﬁﬁqﬂﬁﬁm "HE
BEFREBRNER QI -

MEFEER  EXRFEREE
BAWEEESNEREE AR
KRG HRE - EREFETRG
WRE - MESFKERDR - AlEE
NEBEERREZRE R



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019/2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m) Offsetting of financial instruments

(n)

(0)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets

and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of

change in value.

Foreign currency translation

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At each date of the statement of
financial position, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date of the statement of financial position. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a

foreign currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

()

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which
gains or losses are recognised directly in equity, in which
cases, the exchange differences are also recognised in

equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Groups foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
reporting date, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
year, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component of
equity (the exchange reserve). Such exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the

foreign operation is disposed of.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition, construction
or production of any qualifying asset are capitalised during
the period of time that is required to complete and prepare
the asset for its intended use. A qualifying asset is an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs

are expensed when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p) Borrowing costs (Continued)

(a)

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a

qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset is being

incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities

that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use

or sale are being undertaken. Capitalisation of borrowing

costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary

to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale

are completed.

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected to
be settled wholly before twelve months after the end
of the annual reporting period in which the employees
render the related service. Short term employee
benefits are recognised in the year when the

employees render the related service.

Defined contribution retirement plan
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
are recognised in profit or loss when the services are

rendered by the employees.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of

termination benefits.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
() Employee benefits (Continued)

3. EXBHEEBRE #)
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The fair value of share options granted to employees F TEENEREN A FETE

is recognised as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using
the binomial lattice model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the options, the total estimated fair value of the
options is spread over the vesting period, taking into

account the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share

options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
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original employee expenses qualify for recognition as
an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of
the Company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the capital reserve until either the option
is exercised (when it is included in the amount
recognised in share capital for the shares issued) or
the option expires (when it is released directly to

retained profits).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Taxation

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted
by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable

to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts

expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred

income tax liability is settled.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those

temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s)

(t)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent

liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of,
the group’s various lines of business and geographical

locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may

be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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AEEESERERDA
SE-NCECEEFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Segment assets include all assets but corporate assets
which are not directly attributable to the business activities
of any operating segment are not allocated to a segment,

which primarily applies to the Group’s headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are
not directly attributable to the business activities of any

operating segment and are not allocated to a segment.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to

reportable segments.

Government grants
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them

with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit

or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019/2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on investments in debt instruments that are
measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI. The amount of
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the

respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, if any. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where

appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are

possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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AEEESERERDA
SE-NCECEEFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast economic

information that relate to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators of

credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to

meet its debt obligations;
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019/2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the same debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A

financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i)  the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its

contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil

its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset
has an internal rating of “performing”. Performing means
that the counterparty has a strong financial position and

there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on

the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past

due.
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019/2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet

either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the

counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without

taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging

default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

counterparty;
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AEEESERERDA
SE-NCECEEFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)
— a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider; or

— itis becoming probable that the counterparty will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for that

financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit

or loss.
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019/2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend,
the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking

information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the
expected credit losses is consistent with the cash flows
used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance with
HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17 (prior to 1
January 2019).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive

from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was

used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the

financial asset in the statement of financial position.
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(w) Events after the reporting period
Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements when material.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.
AND ESTIMATES
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,

which are dealt with below).

(a) Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the successful outcomes of the Group to
attain profitable and positive cash flows from operations.
Details are explained in note 1 to the consolidated financial

statements.

120

EXSTTHEBRE &)

(w) BEHREE
REBBAAKRENHREBRZMAAK
BIHEREBRAETEBEZRINE
FHBREHEEEBHESER 1B
REEEMBRERARE - WIFHES
BZHREHEREFERENBFR TESRS
BYBRRMERE -

EXREFH RS

FE & ST BUR RS HY B A K B
EREABETBRNBRES  EFE/EHMN
THEEVMBREPIERBEAZEKR
TR HE (MBS RGO ZEHE) -
BIALLAT o

(a) FHHELERE

HEGOYBRRDBFFERLEESE
e EAMMEURN ANEB IS E
BRANIERSREZKR - BRI



AEESBRRERAT
—B-n/—B-EEH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)

(b) Renewal of the Group’s exploration permits

(c)

As detailed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, certain of the Group’s mining right permits had
been expired or to be expired within one year. The renewal
of such are subject to the discretion of relevant government
authorities. Based on past experience, the directors are of
the opinion that these permits would be renewed
successfully. Should the renewal of these permits were
unsuccessful, impairment on relevant property, plant and

equipment and mining rights related assets arise.

Significant increase in credit risk

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL
for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3
assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9
does not define what constitutes a significant increase in
credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset
has significantly increased the Group takes into account
qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable

forward looking information.
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key

sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting

period, that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)

Impairment of other receivables and promissory notes

Management regularly reviews the impairment of other
receivables and promissory notes to ensure appropriate
impairment loss for other receivables and promissory notes

are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

ECL on other receivables and promissory notes

Where differences between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all cash flows that the Group expects to receives,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. Where the future cash flows are less than
expected, or being revised downward due to change in
facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss may

arise.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, allowance for
impairment losses under ECL of approximately
HK$2,438,000 (2019: Nil) and HK$2,000,000 (2019: Nil)
were made for the Group’s other receivables and

promissory notes respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

(c)

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, management
estimates the useful lives of various categories of property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and machinery of similar nature and functions. The
estimated useful lives reflect the management’s estimate of
the period that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group’s property, plant and

equipment.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment was approximately
HK$657,679,000 (2019: HK$675,291,000).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
mining and exploration assets

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment and
mining and exploration assets is reviewed for impairment
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable in accordance with
the accounting policy as disclosed in note 3(i) to the
consolidated financial statements. The recoverable amount
of these assets, or where appropriate, the cash-generating
unit to which they belong, is the higher of its fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In determining the value in
use, estimation is made on the expected future cash flows
generated by these assets which are discounted at a

suitable discount rate to their present value.
During the year ended 31 March 2020, no impairment

losses (2019: Nil) was made on the Group’s property, plant

and equipment and mining and exploration assets.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Mine resources and reserves

(e)

Mining rights and mining development assets are amortised
over the estimated useful lives of the mines in accordance
with the production plans of the entities concerned and the
mineral resources and reserves of the mines using the units

of production method.

The process of estimating the quantities of the Group’s
gold reserve and resources is inherently imprecise and
represent only approximate amounts because of the
subjective judgements involved in developing such
information based on available geological, geophysical,
engineering and economic data. These estimates may
change substantially as additional data from ongoing
development activities and production performance
becomes available and as economic conditions impacting

mineral prices and costs change.

Provision for claims on litigations

When accounting for provision for claims on litigations
against the Group, the Group has taken internal and
external advice in considering known claims and actions
made by or against the Group. It carefully assesses the
likelihood of success of a claim or action. Assessments and
estimations on provisions are made for claims or actions
against the Group on the basis of likely outcome, but no
provisions are made for those which in the view of

management are unlikely to succeed.

No provision (2019: Nil) was made in the consolidated

financial statements in relation to claims on litigations.
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e MR RMTE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4, BERETTHE RG22

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value
in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belongs. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or
the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the

impairment test.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information is reported internally to the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”), being the chief operating decision
maker, for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on the types of goods

delivered or services provided.

This is also the basis upon which the Group is organised and
specifically focuses on the Group’s operating divisions. No
operating segments identified by the Board have been

aggregated in arriving at the reporting segments of the Group.

The directors primarily use a measure of (loss)/profit after tax to
assess the performance of the operating segments. However,
the directors also receive information about the segments’

revenue and assets on a monthly basis.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

()  Exploration of gold mine which principally engages in the
operation of exploration, mining, processing and sale of

gold concentrate and related products.;

(i) Corporation which principally engages in investment

holding.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as
each of the product and service line requires different resources
as well as marketing approaches. All inter-segment transfers are

carried out at arm’s length prices.
Segment results do not include finance costs. Segment assets

and liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the

segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHmRME
SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. o8 ﬁ*# &)
Segment information by operating segments is presented as IRIRE S EE| S 7 DERERI 250 ¢
follows:
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-ZE-ZEFE=-A=1+—HLEE
Gold Mining Corporate Elimination Total
=S 3 Eapi] et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK’000
FET FET F#&xT F#&T
Segment revenue: pan=il &
Revenue for external REINEBRF 2 W
customers 69,643 - - 69,643
Gross profit ESA 17,867 - - 17,867
Other income and expenses,  Hithg A R -
net FER 1,595 (4,438) - (2,843)
Operating expenses LB A (22,575) (17,828) - (40,403)
Segment results DEPELE (3,113) (22,266) - (25,379)
Finance costs L& AN (8,874) (4,976) - (13,850)
Loss before tax bR AR 1B (11,987) (27,242) = (39,229)
Income tax credit FriS T e - 453 = 453
Net loss for the year FEBEFE (11,987) (26,789) - (38,776)
Segment assets DEE E 776,932 322,347 (319,176) 780,103
Segment liabilities DEEE (686,351) (470,219) 614,087 (542,483)
Capital expenditure BEXRAX (60,960) (543) = (61,503)
Depreciation and amortisation  #78 % & §4 (33,135) (565) - (33,700)
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Year ended 31 March 2019

e MR RMTE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

5.

TEER #)

HE_Z-NF=ZA=+—HILFE

Gold Mining Corporate Elimination Total
=& ¥ ESfi 45T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK’000
FET FH&T FHET FHET
Segment revenue: 7 EBE
Revenue for external REERF Z WS
customers 163,829 - - 163,829
Gross profit EH 77,521 - - 77,521
Other income and expenses,  Hithg A R -
net FER (1,2998) 4,961 - 3,663
Operating expenses LB (16,399) (21,162) - (37,561)
Segment results DESELE 59,824 (16,201) - 43,623
Finance costs A& KA (23,853) (4,160) - (28,013)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREERE A (E518) 35,971 (20,361) - 15,610
Income tax (expense)/credit P15 (Bs), K% (8,219 370 - (7,849)
Net profit/(loss) for the year FERF,(BER) F58 27,752 (19,991) - 7,761
Segment assets DEEE 800,520 336,845 (329,427) 807,938
Segment liabilities DEAE (691,003) (454,351) 637,757 (507,597)
Capital expenditure =N 90,935 (24,325) - 66,610
Depreciation and amortisation  #78 % & §4 34,557 11 - 34,568
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e MR RMTE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5.
Geographical segments

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and other

parts of the PRC whereas the principal markets for the Group’s

products are mainly located in other parts of the PRC.

Segment information by geographical segments is presented as

DEER @)

Hy 13,5 26
AEBMYEBUREERPELMBBE -
MAEEESZETETHERAREL M
& o

i D #EI D 2 D EEHZFIIT

follows:
2020 2019
b g 22 —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Segment revenue by location of BREEMEME D2
customers pan= LG
PRC, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and FE(REERS
Taiwan B &S 69,643 163,829
Non-current assets FRBEE
PRC, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and HE(TBIESES -
Taiwan B K A E 753,064 776,999
Hong Kong B 603 30
753,667 777,029

Revenue of approximately HK$70 million (2019: HK$164 million)
which arose from sales to the Group’s largest customer. There
is one (2019: one) customer contributed 10% or more to the

Group’s revenues for 2020.
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e MR RMTE

REVENUE 6. W
Revenue represents the net value of goods sold, net of trade Wb HEEn o FE(BEHRE ST
discounts and returns and various types of government m-RENTREE BN MNE(WE
surcharges where applicable: ) :
2020 2019
- —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Revenue recognised at a point intime ~ BiIEE B KR EEE
under HKFRS 15 F15RERGERMER
e
Sale of goods HEE M 69,643 163,829
OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET 7. HinW AKX - BE
2020 2019
b i —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
Gain on waiver of interest on interest- MR REEN B M
bearing borrowings 1 396
Bank interests income RITHBUA 48 -
Provisions written back B R 1,662 293
Government grant T4 EL 45 18
Exchange loss, net b 5 B8 55 = ©)
Gain on waiver of former director’s PR EEH MW
emoluments = 3,141
Impairment losses on other receivables Hith pe g R TR R E R 18 (2,438) -
Other losses, net HinEsie - F58 (161) (1,609)
Written off of other receivables i £ B Ath FE L BR IR = (5)
Gain on waiver of other payables e B T RRIE M M - 1,432
Impairment losses on promissory notes EHERBERERE (2,000) -
(2,843) 3,663
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e HRBRMEE
FINANCE COSTS Rl & B A

2020 2019
—EEHF —ZE-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
F&ET FET
Interest on bonds BHHNE 518 515
Interest on convertible bonds AR ESHF A 3,945 3,455
Interest on borrowings BRAE 9,285 24,043
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 93 -
Others EHh 9 -
Finance costs BB KA 13,850 28,013
There is no capitalisation of borrowing cost during the years HE_Z-_ZTFR-_FT-—NF=-A=1—

ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. HIEFEHEERLEERA
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e MR RMTE

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging

the following:

BRBiAT (B51R), T

AEEZRBAT(BE), M DEMR T

B IRIR SRR -

2020 2019
i —T-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHER FHET
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKAR 51,776 86,308
Auditors’ remuneration** Z RN B & 1,765 1,600
Amortisation of mining rights related assets* £RHRAE#E A & 2= 2 1,208 3,946
Depreciation on property, plant VI - BB LRI E
and equipment* 31,927 30,621
Depreciation on right-of-use assets ERAREENE 565 -
Impairment losses on other receivables Hith el BRIB 2 RUEBE 2,438 -
Written off of other receivables i £ B Ath FE L BR 1R = 5
Impairment losses on promissory notes AR BB ZRERE 2,000 -
Staff costs including directors’ BIRK(BREEEHFH) :
emoluments:
Salaries, wages, allowances and benefits ~ #& ~ T4 28K
in kind B 20,295 12,362
Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR {R#& 5T &I 3k 371 487
Staff costs |= DN 20,666 12,849

* Approximately HK$ 1,208,000 (2019: HK3,946,000) are included in

cost of sales.

o Approximately HK$565,000 (2019: HK$600,000) was incurred for

the audit of the subsidiaries.
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10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 10. FAIBH (BR) BxX

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FExT FHET

Current tax — overseas BN E — 4
Provision for the year INF R - 8,219

Deferred tax EER IR

Credited to profit or loss (Note 36) T AB= (K17 36) (453) (370)
Income tax (credit)/expense FTiS®i (%), FxX (453) 7,849

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Pursuant to the Notice of the Ministry of Finance, B B 2B B =
MGR@RERAZTENRANE AR EERKABTK
By 55 R R 1 3@ &0 (BF F 2011 58%% ) (transliterated as General
Administration of Customs and the State Administration of
Taxation on the Issues of Preferential Taxation Policies for
Further Implementing the Western Development Strategy (Cai
Shui 2011 No. 58)%), from 1 January 2011 to 31 December
2020, the enterprises in the western region, which engaged in
encouraged industries as indicated in the P8 &R & BB A8 7 %
E &% (transliterated as Catalogue of Encouraged Industries of
Western Region*) and E 2 451 A8 158 B $: (2011 F7K) (& 1F)
(transliterated as Catalogue of Industrial Structure Adjustment
Guidance (2011 Revised)) (B ZX % 2 & < 20134 5 215%)
(transliterated as National Development and Reform Commission
Order 2013 No. 21*) and which derive 70% of their operating
income from the encouraged industries could apply for a tax

incentive.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RMTE

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)
After getting in-charge tax bureau’s approval, those enterprises
could enjoy a reduced EIT rate of 15% from the statutory EIT
rate of 25%.

The Company’s operating subsidiary Taizhou Mining has been
granted a reduced EIT rate of 15% from year 2015 to 2020.

No EIT has been made in the consolidated financial statements
as the Group did not have any assessable profits subject to EIT
for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The reconciliation between the income tax (credit)/expense and

accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates:

10. 8% (&) B @)
REEBRIER  ZECEAREED
EFTISTb% MEZZEE - BIR15%H
MR FEFTISHL ©

AArEERBRARAMNEES ERER
RZE—FAFE_ZEZ_TFEZZI5%2E
BOEMBHRE -

HRASREBRE—ZFT_FTHF=-A=1+—H
I FEEWEELSEAAGREEATRL
JERBEN > WAL BREEMBHRRAD
EFEHRELEE -

PRIST(ER), /M BRERRRAEZ
&5t (BE),EFME 2 HIRMT

2020 2019
—E-SFE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
(Loss)/profit before tax PR AT (B518), = A (39,229) 15,610
Tax at the applicable tax rate in Hong Kong & &8 B R+ E 2 18 (6,473) 2,576
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAMBRAS 2 RIETE 4,626 6,670
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBIMA 2 RS2 (430) (820)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised NERR Z TR IBEE 2 %
2 1,798 -
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries ~ 7EE b Al AER KL EE 2
operating in other jurisdictions WBARTRAME & 26 (577)
Income tax (credit)/expense FTiSfi (E%),Fx (453) 7,849
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(@)

FREMBHRERME
11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE M. EESFHREBBRSHES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
Directors (@ E=E
Details of the remuneration of directors of the Company are RARIEEZHMEFIBFWOT -
as follows:
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e FERR BIRER
we BYF = sHEMER &af
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK’000
TExT TEx TExT TExT
For the year ended BE-_Z-Z5=H
31 March 2020 =+—HLEE
Executive directors: HITEE
Li Dahong TRR 2,820 - 18 2,838
Ma Xiaona BSEM 1,660 - 18 1,678
Wang Hong Yin pa =] 400 - 18 418
4,880 - 54 4,934
Independent non-executive B JEHHITES :
directors:
Cheung Wei Hung (i) SR B 1 (i) 320 - - 320
Guo Wei SpEE 320 - - 320
Lam Albert Man Sum MER 320 - - 320
960 = = 960
5,840 - 54 5,894
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE M. ESZSFHMREERSFES @)
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(@) Directors (Continued) (@ E=(E)
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees inkind  contributions Total
e REL RIKAET
we RkREDN=E ETEMHE A&t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK’000
FHT FHT FHT FHT
For the year ended BE-Z—-NE=H
31 March 2019 =t+t—BLFE
Executive directors: HITES :
Li Dahong £y NN 2,627 - 18 2,645
Ma Xiaona B 1,660 - 18 1,678
Wang Hong Yin a1 400 - 18 418
4,687 - 54 4,741

Independent non-executive B JEHITESE :

directors:
Cheung Wei Hung (i) SR AE 2 (ii) 191 - - 191
Jiang Quanming (i) =28 () 53 - - 53
Guo Wei Elli 320 - - 320
Lam Albert Man Sum MER 320 - - 320
884 - - 884
5,571 - 54 5,625
)  Mr.Jiang Quanming was appointed as a non-executive () ZZ2HREERZZT—RF_A=+MWN
director on 24 February 2016 and resigned on 28 May 2018. HEZEFHNTES  IRZT-N
FRAZFTN\BEE -

(i)  Mr. Cheung Wei Hung was appointed as a non-executive (i) RKEEEER-Z-NFNA-TL

director on 27 August 2018. HEZERIEMITES -
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid employees (b)

M. EEFMRAEEESTFES ©)

EEBREHER

The five highest paid individuals for the year included three
(2019: four) directors whose remuneration are included
above. During the year ended 31 March 2020, there are
three (2019: Nil) highest paid individuals of the Group had
been included in the following table due to the same
remuneration of the last two individuals. The remunerations
of the remaining three (2019: one) individuals were as

follows:

RAFE AE&eHALEE=4

TENF MR)EF BEZH
SERERNEX -BE_T_TF=H
=t HLEFE BRKREMEAL
ZEMER  HATRBREAEE =%
(ZE-NF  B)RSHFAL-HT
=H(ZE-AF —R)ALZHE
LN

2020 2019
—EF-FF —
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 2Bt R EWHZ 1,768 507
Retirement scheme contributions IRIRGHEIHR 18 18
1,786 525
Their remunerations of the remaining individuals were within RN ATZ MR ER AT FE
the following band:
Number of individuals
AE
2020 2019
—EIERF —E-nEF
HK$ Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 =702 1,000,000 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 87TE
1,500,000 7T 1 -

During the year, no remunerations were paid by the Group
to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. No
directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive any

remunerations during the year.
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e MR RR MR

12. DIVIDEND 12. BRE
No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company for the B Z_EFER_FT—NF=ZA=+—
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. HIEFE » ARARWERSEIRRS -
13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. 8RR (B5E) BF
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share RAREREEAFEGGRER LSS (B
attributable to the equity holders of the Company is based on 1B) BRI TER AEEAE
the following:
(a) Basic (@ E&
2020 2019
—EC-RE —T-NF
(Loss)/profit attributable to the equity NGRS AN
holders of the Company (HK$’000) (E518),&H (F%&T) (35,239) 33
Weighted average number of ordinary EETEERZ
shares in issue (in thousands) hniEFE g (FAR%) 1,496,782 1,496,782
Basic (loss)/earnings per share REX(EBE),
(HK cents) BH GBI (2.35) -
* Represent amount less than HK cents 0.01. * RESELH0.01 81l -
(b) Diluted b)
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the SREERADIRBEAEETEE
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding LTBREETE ARMEEHITE
to assume exercise/conversion of all dilutive potential BRAOMEFLOBIERAEMTE -
ordinary shares. During the years ended 31 March 2020 REBEEZZ-_ZEFR-_ZT—NF=A
and 2019, the Company has 2 categories of dilutive —+—BHLFE  XRFEMEBE
potential ordinary shares: share options (Note 29(ii)) and BE B AR - B ARE (BT s 290i) KAl
convertible bonds (Note 27). ;g ES (E27) °
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13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)
(b) Diluted (Continued)

13. BR (B58), BR (@)
b) WE ()

For the share options, a calculation performed to determine TLEERREM S - BB M ARTT R
the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair A2 RN E®EE  stTE iR

value (determined as the average market price of the
Company’s shares during the year) based on the monetary
value of the subscription rights attached to the outstanding
share options. The number of shares calculated above is
compared with the number of shares that would have been
issued assuming the exercise of the share options. Hence,
the share options have a dilutive effect only when the
average market price of ordinary shares during the year

exceeds the exercise price of the share options.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the share options have

been laspsed.

For the convertible bonds, they are assumed to have been
converted into ordinary shares, and the (loss)/profit
attributable to the equity holders of the Company is
adjusted to eliminate the interest expenses of the

convertible bonds.

The computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 did not assume the
conversion of convertible bonds because the conversion

will have an anti- dilutive effect.
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GAPMBHRRME
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W% - BERRE
Furniture,
fixtures
Mine Plantand and office Motor Construction
properties ~ machinery  equipment vehicles Sub-total in progress Total
Bl %8

BENX RERERRE RMORE AE N EBIE it
HKS000  HK§000  HK§O000  HK§O00  HKBO0O  HKS000 HK'000
AT AT AL AT TEL AT AT

Cost A

At 31 March 2018 K-Z-\FZA=+-H 847,184 17,324 218 2515 867,241 53,790 921,031
Additions hE 113,162 - - 906 114,068 - 114,068
Disposals e - (71) - - (@n) - (71)
Exchange realignment 5 A% (58,338) (1,107) ] (192 (59,645 (2,357) (62,002)

At 31 March 2019 and 1 Aprl 2019 RZF-NE=A=+—H

k=ZE-NENA-A 902,008 15,946 210 3229 921,393 51,433 972,826
Additions HE 57,216 - - - 57,216 855 58,071
Exchange realignment ERHEE (60,715) (1,073) " (217) (62,012) (3462) (65,474)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZF-EF-A=1-H 898,509 14,873 203 3,012 916,597 48,826 965,423

Accumulated depreciation ZiiE

As 31 March 2018 RZE-N\E=R=1-H 218,387 12,199 172 900 231,658 - 231,658
Charge for the year RERTH 28,584 1658 50 329 30,621 - 30,621
Written back on dlisposal R ERER - (248) - - (248) - (248)
Exchange realignment R AR (15,019) (829) (12) (69) (15,929) - (15,929)

As 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R=E—E=A=F—H

RZE-NENA-R 231952 12,780 210 1,160 246,102 - 246,102
Charge for the year RERT M 31,054 393 - 480 31,927 - 31927
Exchange realignment EREE (18,145) (867) " 92) (19,111) - (19,111)
As 31 March 2020 W-Z-ZFZA=+-H 244,861 12,306 203 1548 258918 - 258918
Carrying amount; REE:
At 31 March 2020 K-Z-SF=ZA=+-H 653,648 2,567 - 1464 657,679 48,826 706,505
At 31 March 2019 KZE-NE=A=+-H 670,056 3,166 - 2,069 675,201 51,433 726,724
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Impairment assessment

During the year, the Group had appointed an independent
professional valuer, Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, to
assess the recoverable amounts of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment and mining rights related assets, in particular of
those employed in the gold mining segment, and no impairment
loss (2019: Nil) was recognised. The recoverable amount has been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to
cash flow projections is 12% (2019: 12%) per annum. The growth
rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the group of cash-
generating units beyond the five-year period is 0% (2019: 0%) per
annum which based on past performance and its expectations in
relation to market development. Other key assumptions for the
value-in-use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted revenue and gross margin, such
estimation is based on the past performance. The directors
believed that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to

exceed the aggregate recoverable amount.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET

The movements in right-of-use assets are as follows:

14.

15.

M - BERRE®

WEE

FR AEEZATBUEEGHEMKLR
KA ABRAR - AT EAEE ZY
¥ BERSEARFBEEABEEE 2D
WElSE  LERRSBHREMAS -
BV EERAEAREER(ZT—LF:
|) oAl e RBEEGRAEENEE
T ZTERAEREREBRERMALE
hFHEMBEEZREREEA - RE
MEEAMAFTREREFE12%(ZZE—A
F:12%) c AREERFHAZRSES
BRARZHASREZEREREFO%(=
Z—NF :0%)  DIRBBERAREEM
GRRCESREH CHREABMFEZEM
FEBRZFREFRSARA L (BIEE
BWRREMEK)  BAMTEERBER
B-BERR EMZERKIEMEE
ARSI EAREEAERBE A RD
=i

EREEE
FEREAEZEBMT

Leased properties

HEWE
HK$'000
FHET
Right-of-use assets EREEE

Impact on initial application of HKFRS 16 at R_E—NENA BT EREETE
1 April 2019 (note 2) HMEERE 165 2B (ffat2) 1,149
Depreciation charge for the year FEHEEBR (565)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZEF=A=+—H 584
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET (Continued)

Depreciation charge on the right-of-use assets is recognised

using the straight-line method over a period of 1 to 2 years.

For both years, the Group leases offices for its operations. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1 year to 2 years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and

determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

15.

FEREEE®)
CREEEZREBRN —EMER[RA
FRELARR -

AEERZMEEIREEBHERLE -
HESNRETHP1FRE2FF - HE

R TSIRE R AR R - BRSR IR K
R MR o P T T H N AT A T BT E B
FAORER  AEBEAAONERLE
EE XA THITHHIA -

m

B S KR B AR R RS
BEGHTHMEAR RS - AEEE
TEAREERER -

2020
—BCEF
HK$’000
FHET
Interest expense on lease liabilities HBEAEMNSRAT GIARENRA)
(included in finance costs) 93

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$629,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of approximately HK$584,000 as
at 31 March 2020.
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16. MINING RIGHTS RELATED ASSETS 16. RIEEEBEE

HK$'000
FHT
Cost RN
At 1 April 2018 RZZFE—N\FHA—H 68,996
Additions NE 720
Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 B (4,468)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 RZZE—NEFE=A=+—H
RZZT—-hFHA—RH 65,248
Additions NE 824
Exchange realignment bE H A% (4,392)
At 31 March 2020 RZEZTF=A=+—H 61,680
Accumulated amortisation e | -
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-NFMNA—H 11,894
Provision during the year FEEE 3,947
Exchange realignment VE 5, R B (898)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 RZE—NF=A=+—H
M_FT—-hFHA—H 14,943
Provision during the year FERE 1,208
Exchange realignment M 54, 8 B (1,049)
At 31 March 2020 RZE-FF=A=+—H 15,102
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 March 2020 WR-Z_ZEF=HA=+—H 46,578
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NEF=A=+—H 50,305
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16. MINING RIGHTS RELATED ASSETS (Continued) 16. RKIEEMEBEE &)

Impairment assessment

During the year, the Group had appointed an independent
professional valuer, Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, to
assess the recoverable amounts of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment and mining rights related assets, in particular of
those employed in the gold mining segment, and no impairment
loss (2019: Nil) was recognised. The recoverable amount has
been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to cash flow projections is 12% (2019: 12%) per annum.
The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the group
of cash-generating units beyond the five-year period is 0%
(2019: 0%) per annum which based on past performance and
its expectations in relation to market development. Other key
assumptions for the value-in-use calculations relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
revenue and gross margin, such estimation is based on the past
performance. The directors believed that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount.

Mining rights related assets represent the cost of exploration
permits and mining rights permits.

The Group’s exploration permit and mining right permit with no.
of T611200805020066667 and C6100002014084120135479
were renewed on 9 October 2018 and 20 October 2019 for a
period of two and one year(s), respectively.

The renewal of mining right permit with certificate No.
C6100002010124120103609, which covers an area of 0.04
square kilometers, is still under processing. Based on past
experience, the directors were of the opinion that the Group
would be successful in the renewal for the mining right permit.
However, the relevant government authorities had the discretion
of approving the renewal. The directors are not in a position to
quantify or estimate the impact thus incurred if the renewal was
unsuccessful.
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. B QAR
Company AAT
2020 2019
. i
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET
Unlisted shares, at cost JEETRG - EAARE 10 10
Amounts due from subsidiaries Y= NGIE S 120,743 120,500
120,753 120,510
Notes: Hiat
(@)  Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: @ ARFMBARZFHBENT :

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 are

RZBE_ZEF=ZA=+—HARQRAKNER

follows: A2 FBIT
Place and date of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
establishment/ Issued and fully paid up interest attributable to  Principal activities and
Company name Type of Company capital/registered capital the Company place of operations
ARER SRR,/ R B R BRTRERKRA/ ANAEEREE DL FEEBERECEHE
B/ ARER TEMEX
Direct %  Indirect %
BEE% B %
SSC Mandarin Mining British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100 - Investment holding in Hong
Investment Limited 2 October 2007 Kong
Limited liability Company
XENHEEREERAA RERIHE 11 FT 2 SR EEBRERR
“ERLETACH
BREMERA
T G Mining Asia Limited Hong Kong 2,000,000 ordinary shares of - 100 Investment holding in Hong
9 November 2005 HK$1 each Kong
Limited liability Company
EEBETMNERAA Bk 2,000,000 EEBRAER
“ZZRFT—ANRA BR1BT ERBR
BREFAF
SSC Sino Gold Mining PRC Registered and paid-up capital - 90  Investment holding in the PRC
Investment Company Limited 5 February 2004 of US$7,000,000
Sino foreign equity joint
venture
XERS(R)EEREREE  HE 7,000,000 X e 7E R ERERERR
BRAF “ZTNE—ARA BARRERRA
RMEBRE
Tongguan Taizhou Mining PRC Registered and paid-up capital - 72 Exploration, mining and mineral
Company Limited 29 June 2004 RMB10,000,000 processing in the PRC
(“Taizhou Mining”) Domestic Company
BERRANBEXEREERR  HE AK#10,000,0007T FMERRERRAEHEIR
il £ “ZRMERAZTNAB & RERENNT
BRI
T G Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 - Investment holding in Hong
30 August 2018 Kong
Limited liability Company
EEERBRAR 7 10,0007 7T EEBRERR

—Z-\F\A=1H
BREFAR
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17. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 17. ff B A R #ERE (&)
Company (Continued) RKRAT (&)
Notes: (Continued) MieE - (&

B

(o) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free b) EUKBARREAEET - €8 KAER

and repayable on demand.

ZKMER -

The following table shows information on a subsidiary Taizhou TRINAFHEIFERER ([JEERER D)
Mining that have non-controlling interests (‘NCI”) material to the MEAAEEBER BRI RMNEZE -
Group. The summarised financial information represents BMEPEERHEEBAN AR EIRIHATSEE -

amounts before inter-company eliminatio

ns.

Name Taizhou Mining
=18 AMEE
2020 2019
= = —FNF
HK$’000 HK’000
FTER FAT
Principal place of business/country of FTELEMB KT BER PRC PRC
establishment /i F
% of ownership interests/voting rights  FEIZREER FTisE 2 A
hold by NCI EE REEEIL 28% 28%
At 31 March: R=BA=+—8:
Non-current assets JEMBEE 753,064 776,999
Current assets mEE E 23,868 23,520
Current liabilities mENEE (97,650) (75,942)
Non-current liabilities EREEE (588,700) (615,062
Net assets FEE 90,582 109,515
Accumulated NCI ER e i 21,903 25,259
Year ended 31 March: BE=ZHA=+—HLFE:
Revenue Y zs 69,643 163,829
(Loss)/profit (E18), w7 (11,987) 27,752
(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI DELEIFEREZR 2
(B18), @ F (3,356) 7,771
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18. INVENTORIES 18. #E
2020 2019
—E-EE —E—hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Raw material B 65 195
Work in progress TR 1,429 7,963
Finished goods BIRK 6,757 -
8,251 8,158

The carrying amount of inventories that were carried at cost
amounted to approximately HK$8,251,000 (2019:
HK$8,158,000).

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in
‘cost of sales’ amounted to approximately HK$51,776,000
(2019: HK$86,308,000).

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s inventory of approximately
HK$19,473,000 were pledged as collateral with a financer
pursuant to the terms and conditions as mutually agreed
between Taizhou Mining and the financer. During the year ended
31 March 2020, the security arrangement was changed and the
Group’s inventories were no longer being pledged as collateral,

as detailed in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.
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19. PROMISSORY NOTES 19. A H RE
2020 2019
- —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Promissory notes G EIR 2,000 4,000

On 29 September 2018, the Group had subscribed HK$
denominated promissory notes with principal value of
HK$4,000,000 issued by an independent third party (“Issuer”).
The promissory notes are secured by shares of the Issuer, bear
fixed interest at 4% per annum and to be due on 31 March
2019. The promissory notes are measured at amortised cost.
No conversion right is attached to the promissory notes to be

exercised by the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, at the request of the
Issuer, the due date of promissory notes was extended to 31
August 2020. The Group measures loss allowances for
promissory notes at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. An
impairment loss of HK$2,000,000 (2019: Nil) was recognised
during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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20. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

21.

RECEIVABLES

An analysis of deposits, prepayments and other receivables are

20. &€ - AR ERHEMEWERE

Be  BNREREMEKREZ TN

as follows: B
2020 2019
- —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#ET FHET
Deposits i 210 301
Prepayments FEFRIE 7,888 6,569
Other receivables H e U AR TR 5,946 9,685
14,044 16,555

The fair values of deposits, prepayments and other receivables

approximate their carrying amounts.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, impairment loss under
12m ECL of approximately HK$2,438,000 had been provided to
other receivables (2019: Nil).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 March 2020, approximately HK$2,101,000 (2019:
HK$1,980,000) of the Group’s cash and bank balances were
denominated in RMB which is subject to exchange control

restrictions imposed by the Government of the PRC.

However, under the PRC’s foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulation, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to

conduct foreign business.
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22. LEASE LIABILITIES 22,

At transition, lease liabilities were measured at the present value

of the remaining leases payments, discounted at the Group’s

HERE
RBER > HEABERANKBEENRZEA
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁgzigﬁiﬂ?%ﬁLﬁ%

incremental borrowing rate, and the aggregate effect is as wErEENT
follows:

HK$'000

FET

At 1 April 2019 (Note 2) RZZE—NFMHA—B(KF2) 1,172
Lease payments made during the year FRNI N Z2BERMK (636)
Interest on lease liabilities HEABRME 93
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZEF=A=+—H 629
Represented by: 235 :
Amount classified under current liabilities RBAEBEBE T ECZEE 555
Amount classified under non-current liabilities EMBBEBEETHEZSR 74
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-EF=A=+—H 629

The directors considered the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate to be appropriate in view of the market environment and
economic conditions under which each remaining lease

operates.
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

23. EREZRAREMEIRE

2020 2019
- i —F-NF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FTER FHET
Current portion BNHEAEB

Advance from customers BERPEK 343 368
Trade payables FERTE 5 BRR 26,907 1,165
Accruals FERTE 8,869 2,920
Other payables Hh ETRRIR 16,384 17,892
Salary and benefits payables FERTE € REF 8,683 9,346
61,186 31,691

Non-current portion FERNHAES 5>
Other payables Hh ETRRIR 802 -
61,988 31,691

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of

trade payables based on the demand note date, is as follows:

BERSHA BAESRVEEZEL
H

ERH2INRREDTT

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Over 90 days 90 HB F 26,907 1,165
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24. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 24. FHEEE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHET
The Group’s interest-bearing borrowings NS BB BRI T A
were repayable as follows: EEWT :
Amount due within one year included in =~ FIARBIEEE TR —F K
current liabilities B2 FIA 300 1,507
Amount due after one year R—FEBEIEz5/E 364,872 359,230
365,172 360,737
During the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, the Group’s BHE_Z-NFRZE_ZEF=A=+—
interest-bearing borrowings are arranged at interest rates ElJJ:iJ%  AEEMF EEERNE4.35%
ranging 4.35% to 20% (2019: 5% to 30%). As at 31 March E20% (ZF—NF 5% E30%)5TE - 1
2019, the Group’s interest- bearing borrowings were secured by ZE-NF=ZA=+—H AEBE/TE
its inventories. The security terms was changed during the year BEEREGFEEER HE-_T_FTF=
ended 31 March 2020 under which security over the Group’s A=+—BLEFE BREREEE &
inventories was released and replaced by the Group’s rights of It AEBGFENIKIFCHBR T UAES
collection from its customers as collateral. B HE P WEU RN B e R @ -
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group entered into a HEZZ-_TF=-A=1+—HLFE" K
security arrangement and transferred the rights of collection of SEE MBS AEEE
the Group’s trade receivables to a financer under which all the SEWRBENEFNERZTRIEA - Bl
significant risks and rewards relating to these receivables had ZEEWERIEMR B/ AT A B AR B & B R
been passed to the financer and the Group would not recognise EEBTREAN MASEHSHHAE
the carrying amounts of trade receivables. Such trade SEWRTERAE - BEE 5 ERERIRS
receivables would offset against the carrying amount of the HAREABSNEEREBEETRE -
borrowings obtained from the financer.
The above borrowings are carried at amortised cost and the T EERBEHERKAAR  SFEBEZE
carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings approximate to HEHEANFERSE

their fair value.
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25. BONDS 25. &%
On 30 April 2008, the Company issued convertible bonds with REZZTEZENFHA=FTH  K"AEETE
an aggregate value of HK$806,400,000 (the “2008 CB") with {B806,400,0008 7T 2 A S E A ([ ZZEZE
maturity date of 30 April 2013 for partial settlement of the /\iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂaﬁj) (R=ZZE—=FMWA=+
consideration for the acquisition of SSC Mandarin Mining HEHE) » UENWE X ERNEERES
Investment Limited and its subsidiaries. Upon the maturity of the LENGT &ﬁ KHJ% NEZHSREBE R
2008 CB on 30 April 2013, the 2008 CB became bonds and —=FOA=+HZ_ZEZENFAIBRRES
payable on demand. The outstanding bonds is charged at 5% FHE  —EENFABRRESKAEES
per annum and as of 31 March 2020. The bonds remained WEIRERNR - HAEBEZEEEFF
ourtstanding. L% WE  MBE_ZT_TF=A=+—

A BREHDAEER -

Movements of the bonds are set out below: BEz2EHFHHAOT -
2020 2019
—E-EE —E—hF
total total
st 45T
HK$°000 HK$’000
FBxT FH&TT
At 1 April HmA—H 18,589 18,074
Interest charged MEZH 518 515
At 31 March R=B=+—H 19,107 18,589
The fair value of the bonds at 31 March 2020 amounted to R-E-_EF=A=1+—HEH22FE
approximately HK$19,107,000 (2019: HK$18,589,000). %4 /19,107,000 t( = & — N F:

18,589,000/8 7T ) °

As disclosed in note 40(a) to the consolidated financial AR A BTSSR R 7t 40() AT SR - AR F)
statements, there were claims and a winding-up petition made REEEFEGRERSGRER - ANt
against the Company for the settlement of bonds, these claims HEZSREUBHRERERD  ZERERE
and winding-up petition were remain unresolved as at the BEFNRER

approval date of these consolidated financial statements.
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PROMISSORY NOTES 26. AHEE
2020 2019
- —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#ET FHET
Promissory notes HH BB 12,500 12,500

The carrying amount of promissory notes represents the
outstanding balance of two trenches of zero coupon promissory
notes of approximately HK$7,500,000 each. No repayment was
made by the Group following a partial settlement of
approximately HK$2,500,000 made since the year ended 31
March 2011. As disclosed in note 38(i) to the consolidated
financial statements, a legal dispute in relation to the promissory

notes arose and unresolved as at 31 March 2020.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 10 April 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds
(“CBs”) with face value of HK$30,095,000 to independent third
parties. Holders of the CBs will have the right to convert the
CBs, on whole or in part (in multiples of HK$150,000), of the
principal amount of the CBs into the Conversion Shares at the
Conversion Price of HK$0.3 for the period commencing from the
date of the issue of the CBs up to the close of business on the
day falling 14 days prior to the 16 July 2022.

The CBs bear interest of 4% per annum and payable in arrears
quarterly on 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31

December in each year.
Upon the issuance, the value of the CBs has been split into the

liability element and an equity component of HK$15,073,000
and HK$15,022,000 respectively.
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AARBRZEHERRER ZMATSE
HEREHETHIL7,500,000/87C - BEZE
T =A==+ -BLEFELEMAD
2,500,000 7T 2 B 5 SRIA % - AN B &
AT EAIE SR o BANER A B 75 R R T 5 38()
Fr#se  R-_ZT_FTF=-A=+—H%AE
—REARRERBEEMD  BER
Rk o

ARRES

RZZ—+tFMA+H ARRFTHEHEAE
/330,095,000 7T 2 Al # i & 7 ([ AT AR
EH)FBYLE=F A BaREHFZHE
A ERERAIRRESFETCAEE-T
AT RAMNE14HE B EERM
R BREA - IR E 0.3 T i Al
B f& % 2 30 sk B 19 2N € %8 (LA 150,000 7 7T
Z BB BRI RAR D

TRBEHRERILA%HE - AAERE
F=A=+-8 - XA=+tR NA=T
ART=A=+—R - DEEHRE LM -

REETTR  TBRERESZEBEEY# AR
o KiEZE D - 5 Rl 415,073,000
712 15,022,000 7T ©
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27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 27. AHAIRE S (&)
The movement of the liability and equity components of the mRESF BBEREETDNAFE 2
convertible bonds for the year is set out below: FE)EYIMT
Liability Equity
component component Total
aEHs RIS Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2019 R-ZF-NFHA—H 18,655 12,543 31,198
Effective interest expenses EERF S 3,945 - 3,945
Payment of interest FIBAER (1,204) - (1,204)
At 31 March 2020 R-T-_THF-_A=1—H 21,396 12,543 33,939
The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an RAFEWI 2 F B TR E ] iR ESR 2
effective interest rate of 21.58% to the liability component of the BEIIEAERNE21.58%:E -
CBs.
During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, none of the HE_Z-_ZHER_Z-NF=A=1T—
CBs were redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled. H ¢¢F§ CBEEFER - B E M
AR ES o

NENR - #HHARREHA B

In August 2018, a claim made against the Company in relation R-ZE—
to the CBs had been filed to High Court remain unresolved, as REHz2RECRASFERREE  BRZ

T_-_FT

AR

at 31 March 2020, details of which are set out in note 38i) to F=ZA=+—BRER BHEF
the consolidated financial statements. & BT 3R 2R P 5 38i) ©

CE

4}
5

FIRHEERE THRLAMERER
BB A R AR (A S5 0 2 IR BK 0 BRI R

Since the Company breached a condition thereto the

subscription agreement of the CBs as a result of a certain

o B
2
H#

litigations made against the Company, the liability component of BWEHECEBEHDBRERNFR R
the CBs becomes payable on demand and was classified as T oTFR T -NF-A=+—HBHE
current liabilities as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. RREAlE -
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mEMBHmRME
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. RA&
2020 2019
- —E-NF
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
BRA#E o} RinEE 8
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FEL
Authorised: EIE

At 1 April RIA—H 2,666,666,666 160,000 40,000,000,000 160,000
Share consolidation W15 & b - - (37,333,333,334) -
At 31 March W=A=+-A 2,666,666,666 160,000 2,666,666,666 160,000

Issued and fully paid: BEITRERE
At 1 April REA—H 1,496,782,160 89,807 22,451,732,406 89,807
Share consolidation Bin& Bt - - (20,954,950,246) -
At 31 March R=B=+—H 1,496,782,160 89,807  1,496,782,160 89,807
On 6 March 2019, the Company completed the consolidation of RZE—AF=ARB  KRRTKA
shares of the Company whereby every fifteen issued and KARRAD - B F15F820.004 % 7T

unissued ordinary shares of HK$0.004 each are consolidated

into one consolidated ordinary share of HK$0.06 each.
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29. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

U]

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the
Group and its Hong Kong employees makes monthly
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Ordinance. Both the Group’s and the employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month
and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently-administered fund. The Group’s
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the regulations in the PRC, the employees in
the PRC are required to join the pension fund (% £ %k &
%) which is a defined contribution scheme operated by the
local government for the benefit of retired employees. The
Group is required to make monthly contributions to the
scheme at a specified rate of the employee payroll to fund

the retirement benefits of the employees.
Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other

obligations to make payments in respect of retirement

benefits of the employees.
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29. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(ii)

Share option scheme

At an extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders of
the Company held on 4 March 2009, the Company
adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme shall remain in force
for a period of ten years commencing on that date and was

lapsed on 19 November 2019.

To enable the Company to motivate more persons to make
contribution to the Group and recruit additional talents to
serve the Group in attaining the long term objectives of the
Company, the Share Option Scheme has been adopted
with a broader categories of eligible participants, including
full time and part time employee, consultant, adviser, agent,
contractor, customer, supplier and shareholder of the
Group (the “Participants”). Under the terms of the Share
Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may
determine the grant of any options to the Participants to

subscribe for ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and other
share option schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30%
of shares of the Company in issue from time to time. The
total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company, including both exercised and outstanding
options, to each Participant in any twelve month period
must not exceed 1% of the then total issued share capital
of the Company (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of
options in excess of the Individual Limit must be subject to
shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the Company
with such Participant and his associates (as defined in the

GEM Listing Rules) abstaining from voting.
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29. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(ii)

Share option scheme (Continued)

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time from the date of
grant of the option to the date of expiry of the option as
determined and notified by the directors of the Company to
each grantee but may not be exercised after the expiry of
ten years from the date of grant. The subscription price of
the shares in respect of any particular option granted under
the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the board
of directors of the Company, in its absolute discretion, shall
determine and notify the Participant, save that such price
must be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date grant; (i) the average closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the

nominal value of the Company’s shares.

As the Company conducted a share consolidation on the
basis that every fifteen issued and unissued existing shares
of par value of HK$0.004 each in the share capital of the
Company were consolidated into one consolidated share
of par value of HK$0.06 each on 6 March 2019,
adjustments are required to be made to the exercise prices
and the number of the Shares falling to be issued upon
exercise of the outstanding Share Options in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the share option scheme
of the Company adopted on 4 March 2009 (the “Share
Option Scheme”), Rule 23.03(13) of the GEM Listing Rules
and the supplementary guidance (the “Supplementary
Guidance”) dated 5 September 2005 regarding the
adjustments to share options issued by the Stock
Exchange. The adjustments to the exercise prices of and
the number of Shares falling to be issued upon exercise of

the outstanding Share Options are as follows:
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(ii)
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Share option scheme (Continued)

29.

EEREN=#)
(i) EERRAEEIEI(E)

Immediately prior to the Immediately after the
adjustments as a result of adjustments as a result of
Date of grant the share consolidation the share consolidation
RHAH SERROEHAEA ERERROEHARE
Number of Number of

Shares to be

Shares to be

issued upon issued upon Adjusted
full exercise of Exercise  full exercise of Exercise
Share options price  Share options price
BHITEBRE BHTEERE
B FRITZ BEFRTZ
RHEE TfEfE ROBE  ERBTEE
HK$ HKS
BT BT
19 November 2009 —ETNF+-A+TNAE 67,789,450 0.114 4,519,296 1.71

There was no share options granted and exercised for the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

4,519,266 outstanding share options were lapsed during
the year ended 31 March 2020 as a result of the expiry of
the Share Option Scheme (2019: Nil).

As at 31 March 2020, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme was Nil (2019: 4,519,296),
representing Nil (2019: 0.30%) of the total number of

shares of the Company in issue at that date.
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30. RESERVES
(@) Group (@)
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements

30. &
AEE
REEEE B RASEERBE

therein for the current and prior years are presented in the FEZEFISTINEGS NET B 24
*

consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 66 SREFFEIRANZY -
and 67.
(b) The Company (b) AT
Convertible
Share bonds Share option Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
ARRES
R EE e BRERE EY | a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TR TET THT
As at 1 April 2018 RZE—/\EFMA—H 1,842,983 12,543 26,703 (1,892,227 (9,998)
Loss for the year FEBE - - - (19,677) (19,677)
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=+—H 1,842,983 12,543 26,703 (1,911,904) (29,675)
Adjustments on initial NHEREARBRE
application of HKFRS 16 RBIF165 2 AE - - - (23) (23)
Restated balance as at RZE-NEMA—H
1 April 2019 BES|eh 1,842,983 12,543 26,703 (1,911,927) (29,698)
Lapse of share options BRELN - - (26,703) 26,703 -
Loss for the year FEEE - - - (24,844) (24,844)
As at 31 March 2020 RZZEZZE=-A=+—H 1842983 12,543 - (1,910,068 (54,542)
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30. RESERVES (continued)
(b) The Company (Continued)

(i) Share Premium

Under section 34 of the Companies Law (Revised) of
the Cayman Islands, the share premium is available
for distribution to shareholders subject to the
provisions of the articles of association of the
Company and no distribution may be paid to
shareholders out of the share premium unless,
immediately following the date on which distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company shall
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.

(i)  Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance

with the accounting policies set out in note 3(0) to the

consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Convertible bonds reserve

The convertible bonds reserve represents the value of
the unexercised equity component of convertible
bonds issued by the Company recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for

convertible bonds in note 3(l)(iii) to the consolidated

financial statements.

(iv) Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value of
the actual or estimated number of unexercised share
options granted to employees and other participants
other than employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for

equity-settled share-based payments in note 3(q)(iv) to

the consolidated financial statements.

162

30. f#fE (&)
b) &7 E)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

R wE

REREHSRREKERE
34 EREARRREBEIZA
BIZHET BRI &EEADIKT
PR MARRIBENRBEREZD
k3K 25 AR B 2 B B 1% B #A 2 A
HEXBBRPZIRHES  »

A] DA AR B A 3a (B A SR A H
K ©
SEREHE

SNEBmBERERERBRE I
Bz MBRRMELEZELE
B RRMEDREBESFEMBHRE
FEE 3(0) Tk 2 & ET R BRI o

R ES

AR ESREEERESEME
¥R M RE (1)) Bt AT HR AR B 5 R A
ZEETHRAER > AARRE
T2 AT E 7 R RIT(EHE 21 B8
e EE-

BRERFE
BREFEEREESVERE
P & 3(a)(iv) Bt 188 o 18 A B D 2
BTN KA R A0 & R BUR 1
RAREEREE REEAIE
fil £ B35 B B B S RTRTT
ERERENSE M ATE



31.

32.

AEESBRRERAT
—B-n/—B-EEH
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LEASE COMMITMENTS 31.

As at 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments

of the Group under non-cancellable operating leases are as

HERE
R-FT-NEZA=+—A KEERT
THHEERET 2 A KB EAE 2

follows: FEAOR

2019
—TNEF
HK$'000
FET
Within one year —FR 636
In the second to fifth year, inclusive FIEERT (BEEREWT) 668
1,304

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. B ik E b B 2R

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include
promissory notes receivable, bank balances and cash, bonds,
promissory notes payable, interest-bearing borrowings, other
receivables, trade and other payables as well as, long term
loans. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on

a timely and effective manner.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are
principally denominated in HK$ and RMB. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions
and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a
currency that is not the functional currency of the relevant
group entity. The Group adopted a conservative treasury
policy with most of the bank deposits being kept in HK$ or
RMB, or in the local currencies of the operating subsidiaries

to minimise exposure to foreign exchange risk.

The Group has certain investments and operations in the
PRC, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk. Currency exposure arising from the net
assets of the Group’s operations in the PRC is managed

primarily through operating liabilities denominated in RMB.

To date, the Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions in an effort to reduce the Group’s foreign
currency exchange risks. However, the management
continues to monitor the foreign exchange exposure
regularly and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure should the need arise.

A reasonably possible increase of 5% in exchange rates
between RMB and HK$ respectively, with all other variables
held constant, will lead to an decrease/increase of
approximately HK$690,000 of the Group’s loss/profit
before tax (2019: HK$17,000).
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily
from its borrowings and bank deposits. Borrowings at fixed

rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. The management monitor the Group’s
exposure on ongoing basis and will consider hedging

interest rate risk should the need arise.

At 31 March 2020, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points (2019: 100 basis points) in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would
decrease/increase the Group’s loss/profit before tax by
approximately HK$1,631,000 (2019: HK$3,752,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the reporting date and had been applied to the Group’s
exposure to interest rate risk for financial instruments in
existence at that date. A 100 basis points (2019: 100 basis
points) increase or decrease in interest rates represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the

same basis for 2019.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Commodity price risk

The Group’s exposure to commodity price risk relates
principally to the market price fluctuations in gold and other
by-product commodities, which can affect the Group’s

results of operations.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, it is estimated that an
increase/decrease of RMB10/gram of gold price will lead to
an increase/decrease of revenue of approximately
HK$1,996,000 (2019: HK$3,900,000).

The Group has not used any commodity derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to commodity price risk.
The Group manages its exposure through constant
monitoring and will consider hedging significant commodity

price exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed
to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily deposits
and other receivables and promissory notes) and from its
financing activities, including deposits with banks and
financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions and
other financial instruments. The Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with high credit-rating assigned by international
credit-rating agencies, for which the Group considers to

have low credit risk.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

e MR RMTE

(d) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group does not provide any financial guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

The carrying amount of deposits and other receivables,
promissory notes and bank balances included in the
consolidated statement of financial position represents the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group’s financial assets.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has policy in
place to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk
grading to categories exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The Group uses publicly available financial
Information and own historical repayment records to rate
its major debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
rating of its counterparties are continuously monitored and
the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework
comprises the following categories:

(@)

32. AR ER®)

FERR(E)
AREBE W ERERERMAIEEHAEE
= B R B TS HER -

FEABRAFBIORRIE S R E MR
WERIR - AR EBRRIRTTRABZE®
BERRASERARENEREEM
EENREEERR

ﬁéﬁﬁ%%H@'KEIEEH
RABERGFAEENEER
?@ PAAR 18038 #0 [ i 2 & % fL e

ToE - AEEERR ﬁT%%M%

BRI R B S BEEREEATEHR

FTEEHA - AKREZRREEHF
FRZEEFRIFESE  MEKR

SRBREENHREBREEFIIF -

AEBERENEERRFMIERERE
THIFER -

Category Description Basis of recognising ECL
5l t 8 ERAMEEBECEE
Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does ~ 12m ECL
not have any partdue amounts
Ruf HFREORBRE  BEE (T8 HRIE 2 EAEHEEEE
Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit risk Lifetime ECL not credit impaired
since initial recognition
RER B YR HERE B R AR N 2 HRBEEERE - REREERE
In default There is evidence indicating the asset is credit Lifetime ECL credit impaired
impaired
EX) ERBRAEECHRESERE >HEREEFE-ELREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
8 BEBRAES AR ERSE I %R 2 R RSB TRIE AR 3

EERI@FRIBN A8
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Credit risk (Continued)

For deposits and other receivables, the directors make
periodic collectively assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits. ECL on of deposits and other receivables of
approximately HK$2,438,000 (2019: Nil) was recognised
under 12m ECL model during the year ended 31 March
2020.

The Group measures loss allowances for promissory notes
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different debtors, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not further

distinguished between the Group’s different debtors.

An impairment loss of promissory notes of HK$2,000,000
was recognised under lifetime ECL model during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

Liquidity risk

For the management of the Group’s liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and cash
equivalents to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. Management
reviews and monitors the Group’s working capital

requirements regularly.

The following table sets out the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities at
the reporting date, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
the prevailing rates at the reporting date) and the earliest

date the Group can be required to pay.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(e)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Specifically, for convertible bonds which contain a
repayment on demand clause which can be exercised at
the holder’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the cash
outflow based on the earliest period in which the entity can
be required to pay, that is if the holder was to invoke their
unconditional rights to call the outstanding balance of

convertible bonds with immediate effect.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows is as

follows:

32. I ERERE &)

(e)

EeRBRER(E)

HBEMS  HRTHEREREEMRNR
(B AEAZRBIBITE) 2K
B BESTBRREBEZERARK
ERMNRZ HZFHR (A AELIH
RN BB B 5T AR E S 2R
BEESRK) SH RSN -

AEECRABERAOARTRAES
MEFLZEIHADHMT -

2020 2019
It g 2 “E-hE
Total Total
contractual Within contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted  one year or Atter Carrying  undiscounted one year or After
amount cashflow  ondemand one year amount cash flow on demand one year
CLESE] —ERg CLRiES ks
REE ReREAE BEX BE-F FEOE HeRegs BEX BE—F
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TiEn TiER TR TEL TEL TEL TEL
Trade and other payables [E{F2 3853 %
BN 61,988 61,988 61,186 802 31,691 31,691 31,691 -
Interest-bearing FERE
borrowings 365,172 374,457 300 374,157 360,737 385,793 1,638 384,155
Promissory notes ELEE 12,500 12,500 12,500 - 12,500 12,500 12,500 -
Bonds E% 19,107 19,107 19,107 = 18,589 18,589 18,589 -
Convertible bonds naRES 21,396 21,396 21,39 - 18,655 34,089 34,089 -
Lease liabilties HEEE 629 851 775 76 - - - -
480,792 490,299 115,264 375,035 442,172 482,632 98477 384,155
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(e)

32. AR ER®)

Liquidity risk (Continued) () BEeRBRAR(E)
The table that follows summarises the maturity analysis of TEREBMASAREREBEIRT 20/
convertible bonds with a repayment on demand clause BEERBEEMEZEHERTHE
based on agreed scheduled repayments. The amounts HREIHB S - ZERBREER
include interest payments computed using contractual AHFRHE T F B ZTE B - %
rates. As a result, these amounts are greater than the ESEHP AN LEXRNEBESHH [RE
amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the KIERABRANEE © 5 -
maturity analysis above.
At 31 March 2020 At 31 March 2019
R=2-BF=B=1-H RZT-hE=R=1-A
Between1to  Between2to Between1to  Between2to
Within 1 year 2 years 5 years Total  Within 1 year 2 years 5years Total
—FR -2-f ZELf st —ER —22fF ZZ2RF 3t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#gn FHT TR Fi#n Tin TR Tin Tin
Convertbebonds AR5 1204 1204 30,447 32,855 1,204 1,204 31,651 34,059

As disclosed in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company has breached a condition thereto
the subscription of the convertible bonds as a result of
certain litigations made against the Company, the
outstanding balance of the convertible bonds became

repayable on demand as at 31 March 2019 and 2020.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(f)

©)

Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Group’ s capital management
is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to support its business and maximise
shareholders’ value. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the payment of dividends,
issue new shares, sell assets as well as issue new debts or

redeem existing debts.

The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it, in light of cost and risk associated with

the capital and changes in economic conditions.

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the
Group is that in order to maintain its listing on the Stock
Exchange, it has to have a public float of at least 25% of
the Shares, The Group has maintained a sufficient public
float to comply with GEM Listing Rules from the date of the
Listing. As of 31 March 2020, approximately 64.39% of the

Shares were in public hands.

Fair value
The Carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement

of financial position approximately their respective fair value.
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3B.BAEALRS

In addition to the directors listed in note 11 to the consolidated BRARE PSRBT 11T 2 EEI - A

financial statements, the Group also identifies below related EB R Y EE AT

parties:

Name Relationship 288 HE  BE

Ma Qianzhou Substantial shareholder of Taizhou Mining FaM AMNEXNEERE
Director of Taizhou Mining AMBERES

Zhao Yuebing Director of Taizhou Mining HE K AMBEXES

Zhou Yong Shareholder of Grand T G Gold ISES] REESHRE
General manager of Taizhou Mining ARONMTE 2 fa 438

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial AN SR EME DI EEIN - KNE

statements, the following transactions were carried out with B HERGE A THETUTRS -

related parties:

(@) Key management compensation (@ TEEBAEMS

Key management includes directors (executive and non- FTEERBAEBRNTES RIFNTT
executive), members of the Executive Committee, the EF PO EERBERRARWE-
Company Secretary. The compensation paid or payable to MEERBMOFHENEZEZEREA

key management for employee services is shown below: BzMesEsmT
2020 2019
i —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FHT

Salaries and other short-term Fre kHMEREESRT

employee benefits 6,074 5,631
Other long-term benefits Hity REIEF 65 57
Total BET 6,139 5,688
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Loans from related parties

3B.BAEALTRF B
b) BEALEHR

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-NEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

At 1 April REA—H 185,224 185,211
Currency realignment Rk 7,958 (12,132)
Additions during the year F RN 85,047 12,145
At 31 March BW=A=+—H 278,229 185,224

The above loans for the years ended 31 March 2020 and
2019 from Ms. Zhao Yuebing, Mr. Ma Qianzhou and Mr.

Zhou Yong were included in interest-bearing borrowings.

The loans from related parties have the following terms and

BRE A T E SRR SR T

conditions:
Atend At beginning Interest
of year of year rate
Name £\ nE FXR F9 A=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
2020 ZT-EF
Zhao Yuebing AR K 95,256 88,063 4.35%
Ma Qianzhou B 105,469 97,161 4.35%
Zhou Yong 5= 77,504 - 4.35%
2019 —ZE-NF
Zhao Yuebing 1R K 88,063 84,770 5%
Ma Qianzhou B 97,161 100,441 5%
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 3B.BEAEALREZ @)

(c) Amounts due to related parties (c) FEFRBIEALTFIE
2020 2019
—EDERF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FH&xT FHEIT
Ma Qianzhou BEM 1,225 1,225
The above amounts are interest free, unsecured and FRFIBAEEE BERITNEXE
repayable on demand. They are included in trade and other EE ERENESRIRHEMER
payables. BRIBARR -
34. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND M. EBEENEITHNEREERESHEA
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY BERE
2020 2019
—E-EE —ZT—AF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial Assets — amortised cost SREE — REBHAK
Promissory notes L RE 2,000 4,000
Deposits and other receivable e ME MU ARIE 6,156 9,986
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEEIER 2,141 2,196
10,297 16,182

Financial Liabilities — amortised cost $RIE&E — BERA

Trade and other payables FE B S IRk R E A R AR IR 61,988 31,691
Promissory notes R 12,500 12,500
Bonds B 19,107 18,589
Convertible bonds AR B 21,396 18,655
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 365,172 360,737

480,163 442,172
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 35. xR B B AR R 3R

THE COMPANY
2020 2019
—ECEH —E-NF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
MaE FH&xT THEIT
Non-current Assets kRBEE
Interest in subsidiaries BB~ RS 17 120,753 120,510
Right-of-use assets CREEE 584 -
121,337 120,510
Current Assets REEE
Promissory notes ZEGTIESi 2,000 4,000
Deposits, prepayments and other &  BNEIER
receivables E b fE I BRIA 493 1,623
Cash and cash equivalents ReENMBRESEMEER 31 168
2,524 5,791
Current Liabilities =R
Accruals and other payables FEFtE A R EAM BN IRIE 17,628 13,030
Promissory notes R 12,500 12,500
Bonds BEF 19,107 18,589
Convertible bonds AR ES 21,396 18,655
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 300 1,507
Lease liabilities HEBE 555 -
71,486 64,281
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEEE (68,962) (58,490)
Total assets less current liabilities BEZERAB AR 52,375 62,020
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 35. AR RIBFIEAR R I/ ()

THE COMPANY (Continued)
2020 2019
—ECEH —E-NF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
MaE FET FET
Non-current Liabilities ERBERS
Deferred tax liabilities FERIAEEE 1,435 1,888
Lease liabilities HEBE 74 -
Interest bearing borrowings ATEEE 15,601 -
17,110 1,888
NET ASSETS BEE 35,265 60,132
Capital and Reserves AR #iE
Share capital A&z 89,807 89,807
Reserves e 30(b) (54,542) (29,675)
Total equity REREE 35,265 60,132
On behalf of the board of directors REREES
Li Dahong Ma Xiaona
ERE =43
Director Director
S o
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36. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 36. EXEBIEEE
The balance comprise temporary difference attributable to: 4EEAE IR D\ TN R IE (L 2 EA 1t AR
2020 2019
—B-EF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Convertible Bonds Al AR (EZF 1,435 1,888
Movement: SE
At 1 April W A—H 1,888 2,258
Credited to profit or loss (note 10) FrABE (K 10) (453) (370)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,435 1,888
At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax RBEER - AEBA A AERER G
losses of approximately HK$10,897,000 (2019: Nil) available for M2 ABARIERE 10,897,000 7T (=
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been T—NF &) o AREIETRRIARN & T 2K
recognised in respect of these losses due to the unpredictability IR T ERZEEERRELENIBEE °
of future profit streams. The unrecognised tax losses will expire REMR BB EHR ZZEZYFEm o
in 2024.
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37. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 37. GEREMEBRME

OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () BEZBMELEENHE
activities
The table set forth below is the detail changes in the TR ASEMEZDMEELEBE
Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including ZEEFEM BEEeNIFESE
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from MEEFHFIEAZBENAEELGLA
financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or RenERxBREeRENRRERR
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EN0RAREZMERERECE
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from & o

financing activities.

1 April Interest  Exchange 31 March
2019 Cash flows charges realignment 2020
—g-nE —2-%%

mA—H BERE MNEEH ERAER = A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET

Bonds (note 25) &% (HfF25) 18,589 - 518 - 19,107
Interest-bearing borrowings T B 1EE (At 24)

(note 24) 360,737 13,030 9,285 (17,880) 365,172
Convertible bonds (note 27) ARk &% (f1i£27) 18,655 (1,204) 3,945 - 21,396
Lease liabilities (note 22) HEBEWL22) 1,172 (636) 93 - 629

399,153 11,190 13,841 (17,880) 406,304
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R MR
37. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 7. ZEBHEREKRME (2
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) METBFELEBNYIR(E)
activities (Continued)

1 April Cash Interest  Exchange 31 March
2018 flows charges realignment 2019
—E-NE —E-NF

mA—H BERE FMEER EHRARE =A=1+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET

Bonds (note 25) &z (Mt 2s5) 18,074 - 515 - 18,589
Interest-bearing borrowings T EEE (HfiF24)
(note 24) 295,802 56,965 24,043 (16,073) 360,737
Convertible bonds (note 27) AR ES (f1:F27) 16,404 (1,204) 3,455 - 18,655
330,280 55,761 28,013 (16,073) 397,981
(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b) HERSREAE
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for leases ARG RERCHEE BENAT
comprises the following: HIA
2020
—EIEH
HK$’000
FE&T
Within operating cash flows KERSREN 93
Within financing cash flows MERESMEN 543
636
These amounts relate to the following: ZERFEETNIIBERERRA -
2020
—ECEH
HK$’000
FET
Lease rental paid ENEERS 636
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38. LITIGATION

e MR RMTE

As at 31 March 2020, the Company is involved in the following

litigation proceedings:

(i)

High Court Action no. HCA397/2011. The action was
commenced in 2011 and was not active until J. Thomson
Asset Investment Limited join in as one of the parties to the
proceedings in 2018. In this action, the Plaintiff is Charm
Master Enterprises Limited, the first defendant is the
Company and the second defendant is J. Thomson Asset
Investment Limited.

The Plaintiff claims redemption of the promissory notes in
the sum of HK$12,500,000. The 2nd defendant claims that
it is the beneficial owner of the promissory notes and claim

repayment of the promissory notes.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that such
amount of HK$12,500,000 was already reflected in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements as at 31 March
2020 and no further provision is required in this respect.
The Company’s position is that if the redemption capacity
in relation to the promissory note is not dealt with, then the
position of the Company would be jeopardised if payment
is made to either one party while the other is perusing.

High Court Action No. 1885 of 2018. The action was
commenced by Leung Heung Ying as plaintiff in August
2018 against the Company as defendant for a sum of
HK$30,095,357, being the principal amount under a series
of convertible bonds issued by the Company on 17 July
2017, together with the interest accrued thereon. The said
convertible bonds are due and payable in 2022.

As of the approval date on these consolidated financial
statements, the said sum of HK$30,095,357 had been
reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
as at 31 March 2020. The directors are of the opinion that
no further provision is required in this respect.
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38. LITIGATION (continued)

(i)

High Court Action No. 748 of 2019. The action was
commenced by (i) Golden Landscape International Ltd as
the first plaintiff (the “1st Plaintiff”) and Charles Mostret as
the second plaintiff (the “2nd Plaintiff”) against the Company
as defendant. The 1st Plaintiff claims against the Company
for a sum of HK$8,064,000, being the principal amount
under a convertible bond issued by the Company on 13
August 2010, together with the interest accrued thereon.
The 2nd Plaintiff claims against the Company for a sum of
HK$436,800, being the principal amount under a
convertible bond issued by the Company on 4 January

2010, together with the interest accrued thereon.

The 1st Plaintiff and the 2nd Plaintiff have discontinued the
legal action in relation to the claim against the Company on
26 July 2019. The Company had settled the said sum
claims of HK$500,000.

39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any significant

capital commitments (2019: Nil).

181

38.

—NFSEERFAL 7485 °
# 7Y () Golden Landscape
International Ltd (1ER % —IR& A -
[ —RE A L) K Charles Mostret (1
BEZREAN [EFZREADBEER
AIMEREEAN)RE - E—REAM
AR E)REE 8,064,000 7T  BIARA A
R-ZE-TFN\A+T=ZBHTHNAHR

BEHFZAGHREREETNE - &
ZRE ARARFRE 436,800 7T -
MARRRZZE—EF— AT
BRI B 5 2 A& B R A JE 5T 7

B o
N

b=]114
)1 2
I3 MH‘ ml\ﬁi
—

E'qw

Ax

—REARFEZREAERZ=ZE
—NFtA :Jr/‘—\EMﬁiTﬁFz%f%f
KRR ZFBZIERTE - XD
Bt L SR ARS8 500,000 4 7T ©

39. EAREIE

R-P-FF=A=1-A ARELE
EAERERNEE(ZE

—NE )



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RR MR

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

Litigation

Mr. Lee Sing Leung Robin (“Robin Lee”) claims against the
Company for the amount of HK$8.78 million, being the
principal amount of HK$5 million under a trench of
convertible bond No. 54 dated 21 August 2009 (became
bonds of the Company after its maturity on 30 April 2013)
issued by the Company (“CB 54”) together with interest
accrued thereon in the Statutory Demand (the “SD”).

However, in an ongoing High Court Miscellaneous
Proceedings No. 1398 of 2018 between the Company and
a company namely Mayson Associates Limited (“Mayson”)
about the dispute of the identity of the legal and beneficial
owner of CB 54, Robin Lee took a conflicting position and
affirmed that Mayson and its sole shareholder i.e. Mr. Kwok
Wai Tak (“Mr. Kwok”) are respectively the legal and

beneficial owner of CB 54.

In any event, the directors of the Comapny are of the
opinion that because of the inconsistent positions, the
above legal proceedings were in progress whose final
outcomes cannot be determined at present. The Group
cannot make settlement regarding CB 54 before the true

identity of the rightful owner of CB 54 can be ascertained.

A Winding-up petition was filed by Mr. Lee Sng Leung, to
the High Court of Hong Kong on June 2020 related to its
CB 54, claiming the amount about HKD8.78 million in
aggregate against the Company in the capacity of the
registered holder of CB 54.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

(a) Litigation (Continued)
The Group has already sought legal advices and taken the
position that the above winding-up petition is being invalid ,
after taking into account various factors including but not
limited to Case Number: HCMP1398/2018 on the disputes
of the identity whom should the CB 54 be payable, which
the hearing has been fixed on 31 July 2020, and therefore
the Company is of the view that such winding-up petition

does not have valid ground.

(b) Epidemic of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (the “COVID-19
outbreak”)
Since early 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak has spread
across the PRC and other countries and it has affected the
business and economic activities of the Group to some

extent.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the mining
operating was suspended temporally due to COVID-19
outbreak at the beginning of 2020 and will resume to

normal until notified by the goverment.

The overall financial effect cannot be reliably estimated as
of the approval date on these consolidated financial
statements. The Group will closely monitor the
development of the COVID-19 outbreak and continue to
evaluate its impact on the business, the financial position

and operating results of the Group.

41. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the

board of directors and authorised for issue on 30 June 2020.
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EEHEME
For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ZE—RF ZFE—+F ZF-)\F ZFT-NF ZB-BF
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$O000 HK$000  HK$000
FHEIT FHET FHETT FHEIT FHxT
RESULTS E
Revenue Wz 112,374 131,658 215,446 163,829 69,643
(Loss)/profit before tax BRIAT (E58), % F 22,520 9,622 46,117 15,610 (39,229)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTisfi(Ax), & (2,294) (8,032)  (11,948) (7,849) 453
(Loss)/profit for the year FEE(FR) %A 20,226 1,590 34,169 7,761 (38,776)
Attributable to: AR & T FE(L
Equity holders of the Company N2 &lHEzS A A 11,114 (9,779) 15,290 33 (35,239)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR RS 9,112 11,369 18,879 7,728 (3,537)
20,226 1,590 34,169 7,761 (38,776)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
At 31 March
R=B=+—H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
ZERF ZFEF ZF)\F ZTNF ZECEF
HK$000 HK$000 HK$O000 HK$000  HK$000
FHETT FHEIT FHIT FHEIT FET
Total assets BB E 788,901 710,114 812,450 807,938 780,103
Total liabilities BEE (701,864)  (634,760) (495,887) (507,597) (542,483)
Total equity waRERS 87,037 75,354 316,563 300,341 237,620
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